Technische Universität München TUM School of Medicine and Health



# Effects of Lactatedehydrogenase inhibition via GNE-140 on the expression of heat shock proteins

## Katharina Thunborg

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Medicine and Health der Technischen

Universität München zur Erlangung einer

Doktorin der Medizin (Dr. med.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz: apl. Prof. Dr. Ute Reuning

Prüfende der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Gabriele Multhoff
- 2. Prof. Dr. Agnes Görlach

Die Dissertation wurde am 02.07.2024 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Medicine and Health am 07.11.2024 angenommen.

# **Table of Contents**

1	Abbreviations4			
2	Graphic	cal abstract	7	
3	Introduction			
J IIII JUULIUII				
	3.1 Coloi	rectal carcinoma	8	
	3.1.1	Disease characterization, epidemiology and etiology	8	
	3.1.2	Diagnosis and staging	10	
	3.1.3	Treatment	12	
	3.2 Canc	er cell biology	15	
	3.2.1	Stress response in cancer: heat shock proteins		
	3.2.1.	1 Hsp70	20	
	3.2.1.	.2 Hsp90	22	
	3.2.1.	.3 Hsp27	23	
	3.2.1.	.4 HSP: Role in carcinogenesis and tumor development	24	
	3.2.1.	5 Clinical implication and therapy relevance	25	
	3.2.2	Cancer metabolism	29	
	3.2.2.	1 Lactate dehydrogenase	29	
	3.2.2.	.2 Role of metabolism in carcinogenesis	30	
	3.2.2.	.3 Clinical implication	34	
	3.2.2.	.4 GNE-140	35	
4	Aim of	the study	37	
5	Materia	al and methods		
			20	
	5.1 Wate	Chaminals and reasonsts		
	5.1.1	Coll culture media and supplements, tissue culture flasks		
	5.1.2	Duffere		
	5.1.5	Bullers		
	5.1.4	Antihadias		
	5.1.5			
	5.1.0	Centimes		
	5.1./	Software		
	5.1.8	SUILWAIE	45	
	5.2 Meth	nods	46	
	5.2.1	Cell culturing	46	
	5.2.2	Cell counting	47	

	5.2.3	Treatment procedure	47		
	5.2.4	LDH activity assay	47		
	5.2.5	Flow cytometry analysis	49		
	5.2.6	Protein analysis	50		
	5.	2.6.1 Sample preparation (cell lysis & BCA assay)	50		
	5.	2.6.2 SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	51		
	5.	2.6.3 Western Blotting	52		
	5.2.7	Colony formation assays	53		
	5.2.8	Statistical analysis	54		
6	Resi	ilts	55		
Ŭ	neou				
	6.1 LDH activity				
	6.1 LI	OH activity	55		
	6.1 LI 6.2 Ef	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27			
	6.1 LI 6.2 Ef	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27	55 		
	<ul> <li>6.1 LI</li> <li>6.2 Ef</li> <li>6.3 Co</li> </ul>	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity	55 56 62		
7	<ul> <li>6.1 LI</li> <li>6.2 Ef</li> <li>6.3 Co</li> <li>Disco</li> </ul>	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion			
7	6.1 LI 6.2 Ef 6.3 Co Disco	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion			
7 8	<ul> <li>6.1 LI</li> <li>6.2 Ef</li> <li>6.3 Co</li> <li>Disco</li> <li>Cono</li> </ul>	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion			
7 8 9	6.1 LL 6.2 Ef 6.3 Co Disco Cono List o	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion clusion of figures and tables			
7 8 9	6.1 LL 6.2 Ef 6.3 Ca Disca Cona List a	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion clusion of figures and tables			
7 8 9	6.1 LI 6.2 Ef 6.3 Co Disco Cono List o 9.1 Li	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion clusion of figures and tables st of figures			
7 8 9	6.1 LI 6.2 Ef 6.3 Co Disco Cono List o 9.1 Li 9.2 Li	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion clusion of figures and tables st of figures st of tables			
7 8 9	6.1 LI 6.2 Ef 6.3 Co Disco Cono List o 9.1 Li 9.2 Li	DH activity ffects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 onsequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity ussion clusion of figures and tables st of figures st of tables			

## 1 Abbreviations

17-AAG	
17-DMAG .	
AMP	adenosine-monophosphate
Apaf-1	apoptotic protease-activating factor 1
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
APS	Ammonium persulfate
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
Bax	Bcl-2-associated X protein
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
Bcl2	B-cell lymphoma 2
Bim	
BRAF	B- rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma
CA	
Cas	
CFA	Colony formation assays
CRC	
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats
СТ	computed tomography, computed tomography
ctrl	
D	dose
DCC	Deleted in Colorectal Carcinoma
DMEM	
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxid
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	ethylene- diamine-tetra-acetic acid
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
FOLFOX	folinic acid, 5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin
Gb3	glycosphingolipid globotriaosylceramide
GLUT1	
GLUT4	
HIF1	
HSF1	heat-shock factor 1
HSP	heat shock proteins
Hsp70.1	key representative heat shock protein from the HSP70 family
HSPs	heat shock proteins
IC50	half maximal inhibitory concentration
laG	immunoalobulin G
laG1	immunoalobulin subclass G1

KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma virus
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LDH-1	lactatedehydrogenase consisting of four H subunits
LDH-5	. lactatedehydrogenase consisting of four M subunits
LDHA	subunit M of lactate dehydrogenase
LDHB	subunit H of lactatedehydrogenase
LQ	linear-quadratic
MA	
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
mHsp70	membrane Hsp70
MLH <sup>1</sup>	human mutL homolog 1
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MSH2	
mTOR	mechanistic Target of Rapamycin
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NAD	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NAD+	oxidated form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADH	reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NK	natural killer
OXPHOS	oxidative phosphorylation
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PDPK1	3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1
PF	Plating efficiency
PI	Propidium- iodid
PI3/AKT	phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/ protein-kinase- B
PS	phosphatidylserine. Penicillin/Streptomycin
PUMA	
RAF	Rapidly Accelerated Fibrosarcoma
RAS	Rat sarcoma
RIPA	radioimmunoprecipitation assav
RNA	ribonucleic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	SDS polyacrylamid gel electrophoresis
SFR	sensitizer enhancement ratio
SF	surviving fraction
TRS	tris-huffered saline
TRST	TRS with Tween20
	Tetramethylethylenediamine
	transforming growth factor beta
$TNF_{-}$ alpha	tumor pecrosis factor alpha
ты - арпатым	
	Tumor protoin 52
	Tric/by/drov/umothy/l/amiroarthan
ו אוס	ırıs(nyaroxymetnyi)aminometnane

USA	United States of America
VEGF	anti-epidermal growth factor receptor
WNT	wingless-type MMTV integration site
XELOX	Capecitabin, Oxaliplatin

#### 2 Graphical abstract



**Figure 1.** Effects of LDH inhibition via GNE-140 treatment and double genetic disruption of *LDH A* and *B*. The metabolism of tumor cells is schematically illustrated in (a). The glycolytic phenotype leads to an overexpression of heat shock proteins which increases the capacity to counteract cellular stressors, e.g., radiation. Impaired lactate metabolism, either via genetic disruption (1) or pharmacological inhibition (2) of LDH, consequently leads to impaired heat shock response which hinders effective cellular defense as shown in (b).

#### 3 Introduction

#### 3.1 Colorectal carcinoma

#### 3.1.1 Disease characterization, epidemiology and etiology

Colorectal cancer (CRC) ranks as the third most common cancer globally. Over 1.9 million cases are diagnosed and lead to more than 900,000 deaths annually. This makes it the second leading cause of cancer related death, exceeded only by lung cancer. The gender distribution is similar accounting for up to 9.4% of cancer incidence in women and 10.6% in men. (Sung et al., 2021) By the year 2040 incidence rates are estimated to rise by over three million causing over 1.5 million deaths in a 12-month period (Ferlay et al., 2020). Colorectal cancer is highly associated with economic transition hence, the highest incidence rates of approximately 55% are found in Western countries. Nonetheless, developing countries are catching up. Regions with increasing human development indices face a corresponding rise in incidence and mortality which underlines the role of colorectal cancer as an indicator for socioeconomic development. (Brody, 2015; Holmes, 2015) Changes in lifestyle and diet towards increased consumption of highly processed food and meat combined with decreased physical activity and excess body weight seem to be independently associated with the risk of developing colorectal cancer although the underlying mechanisms are not fully understood yet (Clinton et al., 2020). Excessive alcohol consumption and cigarette smoking display additional risk factors (Islami et al., 2018; Secretan et al., 2009). The main risk factor, however, is age and therefore non-modifiable. Here, the risk significantly increases after the fifth decade. (Levin et al., 2008) Besides age, there are certain genetic conditions such as familial hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer or adenomatous polyposis which significantly increase the risk of disease when inherited (Lynch & De la Chapelle, 2003). Regarding the predictions and ongoing socioeconomic and lifestyle changes within the scope of globalization, CRC is conceivably becoming an even greater global burden in the near future.

The pathogenesis of sporadic CRC derives from certain genetic and epigenetic events. Most colorectal tumors arise from prelesions developing according to a morphological adenoma-carcinoma sequence. This transition derives from a characteristic cluster of genetic alterations including protooncogenes and tumor suppressor genes, both promoting malignancy. Usually, the transformation of a normal colonic stem cell into a neoplastic one is propelled by the accumulation of two to eight driver gene alterations. (Carethers & Jung, 2015)

Although each patient's CRC is genetically unique, the malignant progression appears to follow distinct patterns, which can be classified into three major molecular pathways at present: chromosomal instability, microsatellite instability and serrated neoplasia (Müller et al., 2016). The former displays the most common (Fearon & Vogelstein, 1990), the latter, on the other hand, is less frequent (Bettington et al., 2013). Moreover, new pathways continue to be discovered as a result of integrated data on genotype and expression (Lee et al., 2015b)

Hypermethylation of specifically arranged deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) regions, so-called CpG islands, is typically found in the serrated pathway and causes silencing of tumor suppressor genes often associated with B-rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma (*BRAF*) mutations (Tadros & Anderson, 2013). Failed DNA mismatch repair, on the other hand, leads to microsatellite instability (Ionov et al., 1993). Whereas the other pathways are found in both hereditary as well as sporadic cancer forms, microsatellite instability is mostly associated with hereditary cancer (Lee et al., 2015a).

Adenomatous polyposis coli (*APC*) is usually the first tumor suppressor gene to lose its function which triggers the formation of polyps.

Subsequent genetic alterations depend on the specific pathway engaged. (Nguyen et al., 2020) Following the chromosomal instability pathway, a Kirsten rat sarcoma virus (*KRAS*) mutation is likely to occur afterwards, followed by Deleted in Colorectal Carcinoma (*DCC*) gene and a conclusive loss of the Tumor protein 53 (*TP53*) (Fearon & Vogelstein, 1990).

However, pathophysiological changes cannot only be observed at the genetic level. Due to their reliance on oncogenic signals, as described above, CRC cells are particularly prone to proteotoxic stresses. Therefore, heat shock proteins (HSP), a specific group of chaperones, have a decisive influence on the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer. (Abi Zamer et al., 2021)

Furthermore, key dysregulated signaling pathways in colorectal cancer, such as phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/ protein-kinase-B (PI3/AKT), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and the wingless-type MMTV integration site (WNT) pathway, were discovered to be modulated by several HSPs, providing them with even greater significance in tumorigenicity (Lee et al., 2015a).

Given these properties, overexpression of HSP has a positive influence on the oncogenic progression in CRC. A detailed explanation of HSPs, including their functions and effects, especially with regard to tumorigenicity, will be given in the theoretical part.

#### 3.1.2 Diagnosis and staging

Patients with symptoms characteristic for colorectal cancer should undergo an endoscopic examination. Clinical manifestations range from changes in bowel habits, rectal bleeding to anemia or weight loss. Nonetheless, symptoms usually do not occur until late stages. (Thanikachalam & Khan, 2019) To face this challenge, a variety of screening methods have been implemented, the gold standard of which is colonoscopy. During this intervention, polyps can be removed and biopsies can be taken for histopathological examination of suspicious lesions. In case of confirmed suspicion, proper staging must be performed, including a computed tomography (CT) scan of at least the abdomen, a chest X-ray, plus a pelvic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan if the rectum is affected. (Brenner et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2015a; Letlinienprogramm Onkologie (Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, 2019))

The differentiation between these two entities has diagnostic as well as therapeutic consequences. By definition, colon carcinomas are localized at least 16 cm above the anocutaneous line, whereas malignant neoformations below this threshold are referred to as rectum carcinomas. (Letlinienprogramm Onkologie (Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, 2019))

The pathological and radiological findings can be classified according to the tumor, node, metastasis system (TNM) and the corresponding staging which is decisive for treatment strategies and prognosis (Sobin et al., 2011)

AJCC stage	TNM categories	Description
0	Tis; N0; M0	This stage is also referred to as carcinoma in situ
		(Tis), which implies that the tumor has not spread
		past the colon's or rectum's mucosa.
1	T1 or T2; N0; M0	The tumor has progressed and is now invading the
		submucosa (T1) or muscularis propria (T2). Lymph
		nodes (N0) or distant sites (M0) are not involved.
II A-C	T3-T4b; N0; M0	The subserosa, the pericolic/-rectal fat tissue (T3)
		is affected or even the wall is perforated (T4a). The
		tumor is possibly attached to or has penetrated
		surrounding tissues (T4b).
III A-C	Any T; N1-N2b, M0	At this stage surrounding lymph nodes are
		involved. The affection of less than four lymph
		nodes is described as N1, N2a includes up to six
		lymph nodes and N2b covers everything above
		this level. This stage is independent of the
		primary's tumor infiltration.
IV A-C	Any T; any N, M1	Metastases are present (M1). The cancer has
		spread to distant organs or lymph nodes.

**Table 1.** Staging classification of colorectal cancer according to the American JointCommittee on Cancer (AJCC). Adapted from (Vogel et al., 2017) and (AmericanCancer Society, 2024)

## 3.1.3 Treatment

As indicated above, the therapeutic algorithm depends on the progression of the disease, the patient's general condition, and, with regard to novel therapeutic approaches, also on the molecular biological features of the tumor. Surgery represents the major pillar in fighting CRC and is usually combined with chemo- and targeted therapy as part of a multimodal treatment. Whereas colon carcinoma is only irradiated in a palliative setting, irradiation of rectum carcinoma is broadly implemented in therapeutic regimes. Stage I of CRC requires only surgical therapy or local excision, depending on the infiltration depth. Radical surgery involves a systematic lymph node extirpation and removal of the mesocolon/-rectum. In the case of colon carcinoma, the surgical approach generally comprises a hemicolectomy. Adjuvant therapy in colon carcinoma is usually not performed below stage III. Stage II high-risk patients, however, should also be considered for this regime. Chemotherapeutic agents are used to prevent recurrency and treat micrometastases. The following regimes are commonly applied: FOLFOX (folinic acid, 5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin) and XELOX (Capecitabin, Oxaliplatin). (Letlinienprogramm Onkologie (Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, 2019))

Patients with rectum carcinoma, on the other hand, already receive multimodal therapy at stage II. Tumors of the rectum's upper third are usually treated with adjuvant (radio)chemotherapy. For those localized in the middle or lower third, a neoadjuvant radio(chemo)therapeutic approach including capecitabin/5-fluorouracil and different irradiation schemes (short-term vs. fractionized) have been established. (Letlinienprogramm Onkologie (Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, 2019))

Metastatic disease, i.e., stage IV, requires an interdisciplinary assessment regarding the resectability of metastases and whether the patient is fit enough for intensive treatment. A molecular biological analysis should be conducted first to evaluate the efficacy and potential benefits of targeted therapy. Therefore, at least mutations of the Rat sarcoma (RAS) genes (KRAS and NRAS), the BRAF gene and microsatellite instability should be investigated. Molecularly targeted therapy comprises Bevacizumab, an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor monoclonal antibody, and anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) antibodies like Cetuximab or Panitumumab. These should always be administered in combination with chemotherapy doublets/triplets. (Letlinienprogramm Onkologie (Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, 2019)

The approximate 5-year survival rate for CRC is 65%. That being said, the prognosis strongly relies on the progression of the disease. In localized stages the rate reaches 90%, declining to 12% in case of distant tumor

spread (Miller et al., 2019). Furthermore, over 20% of patients newly diagnosed with CRC present with distant metastases, that are usually found in the liver (Leufkens et al., 2011).

Given the variety of signaling pathways involved in the carcinogenesis of CRC, single targeted therapies, unfortunately, only show limited success. The approximate overall survival in advanced colorectal cancer does not climb above 30 months despite intensive treatment. This further stresses the need for innovative and improved strategies to support the established therapeutic cornerstones. Targeting a component that affects multiple signaling pathways towards less proliferative and more apoptotic stimuli would therefore provide great therapeutic potential with regard to the complexity and diversity of CRC. (Scudellari, 2015)

#### 3.2 Cancer cell biology

Cancer is a disease rooted in a multistep development that cells undergo during their transformation towards malignancy. Dynamic changes in the phenotype result from genetic alterations as cells gradually evolve. Those events of spontaneous mutation and consecutive selection of welladapted cancer cells foster the neoplastic disease by the acquisition of specific tumorigenic traits. (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000)

Hanahan and Weinberg (2000) suggested that this circuit is based on the following six major modifications in cell biology: "self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to growth-inhibitory (antigrowth) signals, evasion of programmed cell death (apoptosis), limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, and tissue invasion and metastasis." These so-called hall marks represent a logical framework to depict the complexity and diversity of cancer evolution. Moreover, these biological features are expressed in a broad variety not only between different entities but also within one macroscopic population, making tumors heterotypic tissues. (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011)

One of the most fundamental characteristics of cancer cells is their capacity for autonomous (hyper-)proliferation. Contrary to normal cells, where growth signals are strictly regulated in their release and activation to maintain the homeostasis in number and architecture, cancer can induce and sustain proliferative signaling in multiple ways. Apart from growth factor overproduction and the upregulation of corresponding receptors, further mechanisms such as constitutive activation of agents in mitogenic signaling pathways (BRAF, Pi3-kinase) and dysfunctional feedback loops lead to proliferative stimulation. (Davies & Samuels, 2010; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011; Jiang & Liu, 2009)

To sustain hyperproliferation over the long-term, cancer cells have managed to achieve replicative immortality. Usually, telomers, sequences of multiple tandem repeats, protect the DNA sequence during replication. Nonetheless, frequent cycles of cell division cause a shortening of telomers and ultimately a loss that inevitably triggers cell death. (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000) Cancer cells, however, have managed to compensate this shortening by the upregulation of telomerase, the corresponding enzyme to extend telomers. (Blasco, 2005; Shay & Wright, 2000) The loss of tumor suppressors, e.g., p53 and downregulation of proapoptotic factors, display further strategies of cell death evasion making cancer even more insensitive towards apoptosis-inducing signals. Especially members of the B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl2) protein family such as Bcl-2-associated X protein (Bax), Bcl-2-like protein 11 (Bim) or p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA) are of great importance here.

(Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011)

Cancer cells are not only able to evade apoptosis but also manage to compensate sublethal damage through autophagy. Its cytoprotective property resides in the ability to generate low-molecular-weight metabolites, which can be used for biosynthesis and energy metabolism during a state of reversible dormancy. (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011) Apparently, this survival response enables eventual regrowth. However, due to its conflicting effects, it remains unclear whether the tumorigenic traits outweigh the apoptotic ones. (Apel et al., 2009)

Angiogenesis and metastasis display two further hallmarks, which are based on cooperative interaction with the tumor's microenvironment. Contrary to the former belief that tumors are simply homogenous masses of cancer cells, research of the past decade has shown that tumors consist of multiple geno- and phenotypes. (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011) These different subpopulations do not only interact with each other but also with the surrounding endothelial, pericytes, and immune cells, thus creating favorable environmental conditions for angiogenesis and invasion (Coffelt

et al., 2010; Egeblad et al., 2010; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Neoangiogenesis and metastasis enable effective nutrient and oxygen supply as well as access to the lymphatic and blood systems. After entering the circulation, tumor cells can spread over the body to colonize and establish new permissive microenvironments (Fidler, 2003).

These six hallmarks of cancer facilitate cancer cell survival, proliferation and spreading. Driving mechanism for this multi-step acquisition are genome instability and inflammation (Colotta et al., 2009; Grivennikov et al., 2010; Negrini et al., 2010). Yet, the core characteristics above seemed to lack distinct attributes regarding tumorigenesis. Hanahan and Weinberg (2011) revised their six hallmarks and proposed two emerging ones: immunoevasion and reprogramming of energy metabolism.

The first one implies the ability to escape immunosurveillance and disruption. This can be achieved by the release of immunosuppressive factors such as transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) which inhibits cytotoxic T-cells and natural killer (NK) cells, for example (Yang et al., 2010). The second hallmark proposed comprises the reorganization of the energy supply. Chronic hyperproliferation is not only based on cell cycle dysregulation and insensitivity to growth inhibition but requires corresponding adaptions in the metabolic system to sustain the reproductive capacity (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Normally, cells process glucose in a multistep reaction: pyruvate is produced through the process of glycolysis and then converted to carbon dioxide with the help of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). This conversion, however, requires oxygen supply, meaning that cells are forced to switch towards glycolysis under anerobic conditions. Contrary to normal cells, cancer can reprogram its energy metabolism towards socalled aerobic glycolysis. In this case, energy production is mainly limited

to glycolysis regardless of environmental conditions such as oxygen supply (Warburg, 1956). This widespread metabolic switch has been intensively studied and substantiated in the last two decades (DeBerardinis et al., 2008; Jones & Thompson, 2009; Zdralevic et al., 2018). Its role in tumorigenicity will be discussed in the following sections. To understand the complex biology of cancer, these hallmarks should be seen as a dynamic theory requiring constant evaluation and reassessment. Hanahan and Weinberg (2011) have established the conceptual framework for many studies including this one.

## 3.2.1 Stress response in cancer: heat shock proteins

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) represent a heterogenous group of proteins which is part of the molecular chaperone family (Ellis, 2006). The latter displays a diverse protein assortment that assists the (un)folding and (dis)assembly of non-functional macromolecules due to incorrect surface interactions (Ellis et al., 2005). This can occur in newly synthesized, native ,and already folded proteins (Ellis & Hemmingsen, 1989) and ribonucleic acid (RNA) which is also a suitable substrate for chaperones (Ellis, 2006). All organisms ubiquitously express HSPs in different subcellular departments (Chatterjee & Burns, 2017). While chaperones are essential for maintaining homeostasis under normal metabolic conditions, their stress-inducible HSP subset copes with increased amounts of damaged polypeptides to prevent cell death (Craig, 1985).

The so-called heat shock response is a cellular mechanism to deal with a range of physical, chemical, and metabolic stressors, mostly mediated by heat-shock factor 1 (HSF1). Although the molecular trigger for HSF1 activation remains unclear, it is known that the factor undergoes posttranslational modifications and assembles as a homotrimer before entering the nucleus. By binding to the 5' promoter of *HSP* genes, it serves

as a transcriptional factor orchestrating the synthesis of these chaperones. (Calderwood et al., 2010)

HSF1 recruitment is normally suppressed by heat shock protein 90. However, this formation can be reversed if cellular stress arises. (Zou et al., 1998)

HSPs are subdivided into numerous genetically encoded families: HSP70, small HSPs, HSP90, HSP60, and large HSPs – all classifying similarly structured polypeptides (Kampinga et al., 2009). Small HSPs act independently of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) whereas large ones require the nucleotide for their function (Kumar et al., 2016).

HSPs fulfill a variety of tasks in cellular processes. Their primary role, however, is to serve as molecular chaperones, which comprises the maintenance of innate structures and functions of client proteins (Chatterjee & Burns, 2017; Macario & Conway de Macario, 2007). Besides protein folding, assembly, and proteasome-mediated protein degradation, HSPs fulfill tasks such as cytoskeletal organization, small-molecule transport, and energy generation (Hahn et al., 2004). These characteristic cytoprotective properties of HSPs are inevitable for normal cells when subjected to homeostatic challenges (Lindquist & Craig, 1988). Nonetheless, imbalance in the HSF1-HSP axis, e.g., dysregulated expression, can lead to malignant transformation. Higher metabolic needs, expression of oncoproteins, and inappropriate activation of signaling pathways demand increased chaperonage function (Chatterjee & Burns, 2017). To meet these needs, cancer cells exhibit increased HSP concentrations. This mechanism is triggered by an overactivation of HSF1 (Mendillo et al., 2012). Furthermore, this set of evolutionary conserved proteins is capable of opposing cell death through caspase-dependent as well as senescence pathways (Garrido et al., 2006). Particularly, the latter stresses the importance of heat shock proteins and their crucial role in the

pathophysiological changes of aging and apoptosis. Specific interactions and functions of concrete chaperones are discussed in the following sections.

## 3.2.1.1 Hsp70

13 members constitute the HSP70 family, all of which play crucial roles in cell survival and growth (Rosenzweig et al., 2019). These members are subdivided into four major groups with a molecular weight of 70 kDa: constitutively expressed Hsp70 (Hsp73), mortalin, Grp78, and stressinducible Hsp70 (Moradi-Marjaneh et al., 2019). Hsp70.1 (Hsp72, Hsp70, HSPA1A), the major stress-inducible member of the HSP70 family, is described as the key representative of the latter group. HSP70 is widely spread over the nucleus and cytosol, plus two members also reside in mitochondria and the endoplasmic reticulum, where they can bind a variety of substrates from primary protein stretches to complex tertiary structures due to their flexible interaction mechanism (Ciocca et al., 2013). Structurally, HSP70 incorporates an N-terminal nucleotide-binding region for ATPase function and is connected to a C-terminal substrate-binding domain via a J-domain (Kumar et al., 2016). Co-substrates regulate the chaperonage function either by silencing or enhancing ATPase activity by binding to different regions (Moradi-Marjaneh et al., 2019). Besides maintaining a normal cell's homeostasis by (re)assembling polypeptides, preventing their aggregation, and assisting cross-membrane transport (Hartl, 1996), Hsp70 is also highly active in cancer cells with regard to survival and tumorigenicity (Aghdassi et al., 2007; Rohde et al., 2005). Herein, a major aspect apart from its metastatic potential (Calderwood et al., 2006) and the disturbance of lysosomal permeabilization (Nylandsted et al., 2004) is the ability to inhibit apoptosis. Specific regulators, such as apoptotic protease-activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) (Beere et al., 2000) and apoptosis-inducing factor (Ravagnan et al., 2001) are bound by Hsp70 on

many levels of pre-and post-caspase recruitment. Further targets are the tumor suppressor p53 (Fourie et al., 1997) and apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (Park et al., 2002) which are either inhibited or degraded after binding. However, the role of the HSP70 family is multidimensional and therefore not limited to promoting cell death resistance.

Several observations have been made confirming Hsp70's contribution to pro-apoptotic mechanisms, such as the sensitization to certain stimuli like tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- alpha) (Ran et al., 2004). Moreover, members of the HSP70 group are involved in signaling pathways that especially promote proliferation and survival in colorectal carcinoma cells. Besides stimulating the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (Zhou et al., 2016), Hsp70 urges downstream activation of PI3/AKT and WNT/β-Catenin via autocrine signaling (Fu et al., 2014) both of which are crucial in CRC pathogenesis. Hsp70 has also been reported to modulate epithelial-mesenchymal transition of colorectal cancer cells, which enables dissemination and metastatic spread (Chang et al., 2015).

However, Hsp70 is not only expressed intracellularly, but also on the plasma membrane. This property was only found in tumor cells, which further distinguishes them from normal tissue cells (Multhoff, 2007). Under physiological conditions, membrane Hsp70 (mHsp70) colocalizes with the lipid raft glycosphingolipid globotriaosylceramide (Gb3), whereas increased stress levels lead to an association with phosphatidylserine (PS), probably as a result of the switch to the outer membrane (Gehrmann et al., 2008).

Cellular stress factors such as heat, hypoxia, irradiation, and drugs induce increased levels of cytosolic and membrane Hsp70, indicating their major role in recovery. Moreover, membrane-bound and extracellular Hsp70 have immunomodulatory effects. After being recognized by pre-activated NK cells, Hsp70 can stimulate the innate immune system (Multhoff et al.,

2001). It can further initiate a response of the adaptive immune system when loaded with immunogenic tumor-deprived peptides in terms of antigen cross-presentation (Binder, 2008). In contrast to normal cells, tumors can actively release Hsp70 in lipid microvesicles with biophysical properties of exosomes via an alternative pathway that does not include the endoplasmic reticulum or the Golgi apparatus (Gastpar et al., 2005). These amounts of secreted Hsp70 positively correlate with the viable tumor volume and pro-/regression (Bayer et al., 2014). Hence, the properties and functions of Hsp70 far exceed the maintenance of homeostasis, playing a crucial role in the pathophysiology of malignant transformation.

## 3.2.1.2 Hsp90

The constitutively expressed Hsp90 $\beta$  and stress-inducible Hsp90 $\alpha$  isotypes belong to the HSP90 family, which comprise four members in total. Both, Hsp90 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , form homo- or heterodimers and can perform ATP-dependent chaperone activity making up to 2% of a cell's total protein amount. The ratio between both isotypes varies and shifts in favor of Hsp90 $\alpha$  under stressful conditions (Ciocca et al., 2013). Besides its assembly and folding duties, Hsp90 assists the maturation as well as the membrane-translocation of signaling molecules usually in association with co-chaperones (Buchner, 1999).

Hsp90 is further involved in many crucial mechanisms of carcinogenesis, including the stabilization of mutant proteins (e.g., growth factor receptors, survival-signaling kinases), metastasis, and environmental-independent growth signaling (Ciocca et al., 2013; Taipale et al., 2010). Many of these oncoproteins, such as TGF- $\beta$ , Rapidly Accelerated Fibrosarcoma (RAF) proteins, MAP-kinase, 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 (PDPK1), mechanistic Target of Rapamycin (mTOR), and glycogen synthase kinase-3, serve as Hsp90 clients due to their dependence on

chaperones. Consequently, they can only sustain accelerated growth in the presence of Hsp90 for stabilization. These signaling pathways and their corresponding oncogenic proteins are of great importance in the development and progression of CRC (Kryeziu et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2015a).

Moreover, Hsp90 achieves inhibition of apoptosis via cytosolic pathways by antagonizing Apaf-1 or activating cytochrome c (Pandey et al., 2000). According to Fulda et al. (2010) anti-apoptotic activity also results from high Hsp90 levels found within the mitochondria of cancer cells. Targeting Hsp90 is therefore likely to affect many precancerous signaling pathways, which can potentially have a lethal effect on cancer cells.

## 3.2.1.3 Hsp27

Hsp27 (HspB1) represents one of the 10 structurally similar small heat shock proteins with a molecular weight ranging from 20-40 kDa. Some of these, including Hsp27, are stress-inducible and feature ATP-independent chaperone activity. (Ciocca et al., 2013) This way, misfolded proteins can be retained to prevent aggregation under stress conditions before they are refolded or degraded (Parcellier et al., 2006). This is usually performed in cooperation with the Hsp70-Hsp90 complex (Parcellier et al., 2006). Hsp27 further participates in promoting cellular resistance to apoptosis by interacting with crucial agents like procaspase-3 (Gibert et al., 2012). Moreover, it stimulates tumor progression, resistance to several anticancer drugs (Arrigo, 2000; Kang et al., 2008) and metastasis (Katoh et al., 2000). The latter could be explained, at least in part, by its ability to influence the cytoskeleton and, thus indirectly, the extracellular matrix (Dalle-Donne et al., 2001). This broad variety of functions results from the structural plasticity allowing rapid adaptation to environmental changes so that appropriate client proteins can be recognized and bound effectively (Paul et al., 2010). Hsp27-client-interaction leads to activity or half-life

modulation of the targeted protein (Ciocca et al., 2013). Targeting the specific binding domain for pathological clients might be a promising therapeutic approach, which has already been investigated in (pre)clinical studies (Gibert et al., 2011; J. C. Heinrich et al., 2011).

## 3.2.1.4 HSP: Role in carcinogenesis and tumor development

Contrary to their role in a normal cell's metabolism and cycle, much less is known about HSPs and their contribution to carcinogenesis. Cancers from a wide range of histological entities such as breast, prostate, lung, ovarian, gastric, esophageal, and colorectal cancer have been reported to express elevated HSP levels (Ciocca, Oesterreich, et al., 1993; Fuller et al., 1994; Love & King, 1994; Saini & Sharma, 2018; Tang et al., 2005; Yun et al., 2019) as well as activated HSF1 (Mendillo et al., 2012; Santagata et al., 2011; Tang et al., 2005). The malignant phenotype emerges from 'hallmarks' comprising several biological capabilities (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). These are acquired through the multistage progression of a tumor involving HSF1 and HSPs. A popular hypothesis suggests that HSP levels increase through the proliferation of mutated proteins requiring stabilization to sustain cancer growth and to counteract proteotoxic stressors (Ciocca et al., 2013). Inhibiting this mechanism, e.g., targeting Hsp90, leads to the destruction of associated oncoproteins. (Trepel et al., 2010)

As indicated before, HSF1 and HSP were observed to promote resistance to cell death by impairing the caspase-dependent apoptosis pathway (Gabai et al., 2005). Likewise, replicative senescence was affected possibly due to the antagonization of wildtype p53 (Sherman et al., 2011). Thus, elevated HSP levels have been described to positively affect tumor growth and progression due to their ability to modulate key dysregulated signaling pathways involving PI3/AKT, WNT/  $\beta$ -Catenin, MAP-kinase, and TGF- $\beta$  (Lee et al., 2015a). HSPs are further involved or at least associated with increasing metastatic potential, tumor invasion and metabolic reprogramming towards aerobic glycolysis (Ciocca et al., 2013).

#### 3.2.1.5 Clinical implication and therapy relevance

The HSF1-HSP axis is a concept of great complexity with a relevance expanding far beyond the molecular context. HSPs are of diagnostic, prognostic, as well as therapeutic value. In patients with hepatocellular carcinoma Hsp70 serum levels were found to be significantly higher compared to those with chronic inflammation or the control group (Gehrmann et al., 2014). This confirms the results of mouse studies, which demonstrated a positive correlation between the serum levels and tumor volume/progression (Bayer et al., 2014). Studies in lung cancer patients displayed similar results (Ren et al., 2017). Those findings imply that HSP serum levels could serve as a potential non-invasive biomarker to monitor and diagnose cancer in the future. Albakova et al. (2021) summarized the correlations between HSP levels and cancer diseases that are currently under investigation.

It was repeatedly discovered that these chaperones have a prognostic relevance: high Hsp27 levels in over seven cancer types were found to be associated with poor clinical outcome (Ciocca et al., 2013). Furthermore, high levels are linked to shorter survival rates (Klimczak et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2010). Similar associations in terms of prognostic significance have been discovered for Hsp70 (Ciocca, Clark, et al., 1993; Nanbu et al., 1998; Thanner et al., 2003; Thomas et al., 2005).

In CRC, Hsp70, as well as Hsp27, were found to be correlated with worse clinical outcome, poor prognosis, and survival (Bauer et al., 2012; Ge et al., 2018; Hrudka et al., 2021).

Another aspect of clinical importance is the ability of HSP to mediate therapy resistance. Besides the cytoprotective property of protein refolding, degradation, or the disruption of apoptosis induction (Arrigo et al., 2002), HSPs can also positively interact with DNA repair proteins, e.g., mismatch repair genes human mutL homolog 1 (MLH1) and human mutS homolog 2 (MSH2), and therefore contribute to DNA repair (Nadin et al., 2007; Sottile & Nadin, 2018). Even the susceptibility of hormone therapy, a crucial pillar in fighting breast or prostate cancer, is inflicted by HSPs due to their interaction with specific receptors (Ciocca et al., 2010; Kang et al., 2008). The success of chemotherapy is further limited by the acquisition of multi-drug resistance. The underlying mechanism here involves the cellular efflux of substances via ATP-binding cassette transporters, the expression of which is linked to HSF1. (Tchénio et al., 2006) Thus, HSPs assist in the formation of a mutated p53-oncoprotein complex known to diminish chemosensitivity (Wawrzynow et al., 2018).

It has been repeatedly demonstrated that the efficacy of radiation is also impaired (Hadchity et al., 2009; Hunt et al., 2004; Teimourian et al., 2006). The ability of Hsp70 to interact with and stabilize a tumor cell's telomerase (Agarwal et al., 2008) or the involvement of Hsp27 in decreasing antioxidative glutathione levels (Aloy et al., 2008) places an additional burden on radiosensitivity. Damage caused by ionizing irradiation can therefore be counteracted by HSPs. Membrane-bound Hsp70 appears to be of great importance here (Ciocca et al., 2013; Multhoff et al., 2015; Murakami et al., 2015).

The investigation of HSPs, however, does not only focus on mediated effects in established therapeutic procedures. Due to their enormous relevance in carcinogenesis, HSPs are considered to have great potential as therapeutic targets. Besides newer immunotherapeutic approaches, e.g., vaccinations (Binder, 2008) and NK-cell infusion (Krause et al., 2004), inhibition of HSPs became an excessively studied strategy with promising results.

The proof-of-concept for targeting HSPs has been accomplished by the excessive evaluation of HSP90 inhibitors. Whitesell et al. (1994) discovered the first specific inhibitor, Geldanamycin, which targets the chaperone's N-terminal ATP-binding domain. Since subsequent studies have proven its therapeutic potency, novel derivates such as 17-(allylamino)-17-demethoxy-geldanamycin (17-AAG) or 17-desmethoxy-17-*N*,*N*-dimethylaminoethylaminogeldanamycin (17-DMAG)) have been developed to overcome the hepatotoxicity and poor water solubility (Shevtsov et al., 2019). Although the thoroughly investigated 17-AAG presented even higher *in vitro* efficacy compared to its precursor, subsequent clinical studies failed to demonstrate its therapeutic success (Gartner et al., 2012; Pacey et al., 2012; Pedersen et al., 2015).

Despite their promising results in cancer cell killing, more than 18 Hsp90 inhibitors, which have been investigated in clinical studies, didn't get the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) approval. Most of the drugs proposed even failed to pass Phase I. Limitations comprise dose-dependent toxicities and unfavorable pharmacokinetic properties. (Sanchez et al., 2020) Moreover, the inhibition of HSP90 leads to a compensatory upregulation of HSP70 counteracting the cellular stress caused by the drug application which further decreases the efficacy (Goloudina et al., 2012).

Combinatorial regimes of HSP90 inhibitors with conventional treatment modalities (chemo-/radiotherapy) (He et al., 2014), targeted therapy (kinase inhibitors) (Vaishampayan et al., 2010) or even immunotherapy (check-point-inhibitors) (Proia & Kaufmann, 2015) seem to bear higher therapeutic potential compared to monotherapy.

Combined therapy was also tested for HSF1 inhibitors. For instance, the benzylidene lactam compound represents one of the HSF1 inhibitors tested in clinical studies, where higher therapeutic efficacy could be

reached when combined with bortezomib (Bustany et al., 2015). Likewise, strong anticancer activity was found for the HSF1 inhibiting compound KRIBB11 (N(2)-(1H-indazole-5-yl)-N(6)-methyl-3-nitropyridine-2,6diamine) when combined with danusertib (Shen et al., 2021).

Contrary to the presumption that HSF1 impacts tumor biology only indirectly through initiating HSP expression, an alternate concept has been proposed. HSF1 was identified to independently promote invasion and metastasis by regulating a distinct transcriptional program. These activated cellular processes are not only limited to the heat shock response but also comprise cell cycle signaling and energy metabolism. (Mendillo et al., 2012)

RP101 (Brivudine), a nucleoside that directly inhibits Hsp27, did not only display chemo-sensitizing properties *in vitro* but was also successful in clinical trials. An increase of the overall-survival rate in patients with pancreatic cancer could be accomplished when Brivudine was applied together with gemcitabine. Clinical application, however, is limited due to its toxic side effects. (J.-C. Heinrich et al., 2011)

The antisense oligonucleotide, apatorsen, which reduces the expression of Hsp27 by targeting its messenger ribonucleic acid, has also demonstrated promising *in vivo* results. Mouse-models showed that this drug led to a decrease in tumor size when combined with chemotherapeutic agents (Lelj-Garolla et al., 2015). Clinical studies reported that apatorsen combined chemotherapy achieved a prolonged progression-free and overall-survival in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. Unfortunately, this effect could only be detected in a small proportion of patients. (Ko et al., 2017)

The search for Hsp70 inhibitors led to the discovery of a variety of pharmacologically different agents (Albakova et al., 2021; Chatterjee & Burns, 2017). Blocking of the chaperone's ATP-binding site is the

underlying mechanism that unites these inhibitors. (Kumar et al., 2016) After many attempts, however, only few have proven to be successful (Chatterjee & Burns, 2017). 15-deoxyspergualin, a dihydropyrimidinederived inhibitor, is one of the few substances tested in clinical trials. Yet, due to the frequent occurrence of neuromuscular side effects, it could not pass Phase II. (Eguchi et al., 2018) Other inhibitors with dihydropyrimidine compounds have not displayed convincing *in vivo* results so far (Moradi-Marjaneh et al., 2019). The rhodacyanine-derived agent MKT-077 targets the nucleotide-binding site, resulting in altered chaperoning function (Chatterjee & Burns, 2017). Although clinical studies have demonstrated significant anti-proliferative activity, its application as an anti-cancer agent is limited due to rapid metabolization and nephrotoxicity (Britten et al., 2000).

So far, most of the research on HSP inhibitors has been conducted *in vitro* since *in vivo* application is often limited due to unfavorable bioavailability or severe side effects (Chatterjee & Burns, 2017). Thus, targeting distinct HSP members such as Hsp90 can be counteracted by HSF1 release and subsequent activation, which in turn leads to increased Hsp70 synthesis (Prince et al., 2018; Shevtsov et al., 2019). Presumably, the combination of HSP inhibitors with conventional anti-cancer treatment as well as the simultaneous application of different HSP inhibitors might improve the anti-tumor potency and clinical outcome. (Du et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2016; Nagaraju et al., 2014; Shevtsov et al., 2019).

## 3.2.2 Cancer metabolism

## 3.2.2.1 Lactate dehydrogenase

The lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is the key glycolytic enzyme, which catalyzes the reversible alteration of pyruvate to lactate linked to the oxidation or reduction of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD): NAD+

represents the oxidated form whereas NADH represents the reduced form (Figure 2).

In its active form, the enzyme appears as a tetramer, consisting of the subunits M (LDHA) and H (LDHB), which are coded separately in the genome. There are five isoenzymes, LDH1-5, which vary in their amounts of M and H units and are associated with specific tissue distribution. (Markert & Møller, 1959; Zdralevic et al., 2018)

The homotetramer LDH-1, consisting of four H subunits, and LDH-5 the counterpart composed of M components, proved to be the most metabolically active (Read et al., 2001).

Contrary to the common assumption that only one unit, LDHA, catalyzes the reduction of pyruvate, while LDHB enables the reverse reaction, recent studies (Zdralevic et al., 2018) have shown that both metabolites are suitable substrates for LDHA and B.



**Figure 2.** Conversion of pyruvate (a) to lactate (b) catalyzed by LDH.

## 3.2.2.2 Role of metabolism in carcinogenesis

A major characteristic of tumor cells, distinguishing them from normally differentiated ones, is increased glycolysis and therefore glucose consumption, followed by lactate formation (Warburg, 1925). This phenomenon known as the 'Warburg effect' originates from high metabolic demands and fast growth rates and can even be observed in aerobic environments (Liberti & Locasale, 2016; Vaupel & Multhoff, 2020). In

contrast, normal cells would primarily rely on oxidative phosphorylation under these conditions.

At first, this metabolic switch seems counterintuitive, as cells must compensate the 18-fold lower efficiency, since glycolysis only generates two ATPs, whereas 38 could potentially be gained via oxidative phosphorylation. To face this discrepancy, cancer cells expand their capacities to perform glycolysis on a larger and faster scale. Upregulation of glucose transporters via GLUT1, enhances the cytoplasmic influx of glucose. There, it can be further processed. (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011; Hsu & Sabatini, 2008; Wieman et al., 2007)

The herein-formed lactate can be recycled to serve as an energy fuel. Hypoxic cells secrete lactate, which can then be incorporated into oxygenated cells. After import via the monocarboxylate transporter 1, lactate can be reconverted in the citric acid cycle and used for oxidative phosphorylation. Considering the varying environmental conditions within a population, this symbiosis meets the metabolic requirements. Therefore, cancer cells can generate energy independent of oxygen supply, which is a great advantage regarding the hypoxic conditions many tumors are confronted with. (Feron, 2009; Hardee et al., 2009)

In addition to ATP synthesis, increased amounts of glucose can also be used for anabolic reactions (Kroemer & Pouyssegur, 2008). Intermediates and metabolites generated during this process can be utilized as substrates for biosynthetic pathways. Products such as nucleotides and amino acids can, in turn, be used for the synthesis of macromolecules required for active cell proliferation (Vander Heiden et al., 2009).

Aerobic glycolysis not only offers numerous survival benefits, but also promotes the progression and spread of malignancies (Vaupel et al., 2019). High lactate levels lead to acidification, thus creating an immunosuppressive environment that interferes with the functions of

cytotoxic T lymphocytes and NK cells (Brand et al., 2016; Fischer et al., 2007). Lactate further contributes to immune escape by impairing cytokine release and inhibiting the differentiation of monocytes. (Hirschhaeuser et al., 2011) These circumstances condition the tumor's stroma to form a functional and co-dependent unit, which in turn promotes the processes mentioned above (Swietach et al., 2007).

This metabolic switch occurs at an early stage and is driven by several tumorigenic mechanisms. Activation of the c-myc oncogene, for instance was linked to the induction of LDHA, the expression of which increases lactate production required for c-myc-mediated transformation (Shim et al., 1997). Dysregulation of signaling pathways results in constitutive activation of growth signals, which results in metabolic reprogramming. Self-sufficient activation of the PI3K/Akt system enhances glucose and amino acid flux due to Akt stimulated GLUT1 expression, glucose transporter 4 translocation (GLUT4) and phosphorylation of 6phosphofructo-2-kinase which directly stimulates glycolysis. In addition, PIK3 inhibits β-oxidation trough transcriptional downregulation of membrane transporters needed for fatty acids, thus promoting the socalled glucose addiction of cancer cells. (Kroemer & Pouyssegur, 2008) Besides, tumorigenic mutations can result in the loss of the tumor suppressor p53, which directly induces the Warburg phenomenon. Since p53 stimulates the expression of OXPHOS related proteins such as cytochrome c oxidase 2 (Matoba et al., 2006), while being responsible for downregulation of the glycolytic enzyme phosphoglycerate mutase (Kondoh et al., 2005), its inactivation inevitably increases lactate production.

In addition to tumor suppressors and oncogenes, one of the most important mechanisms responsible for this change, is the activation of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF1). Inflammation, hypoxia, metabolic and

oxidative stress all trigger HIF1 activation which facilitates the transcription of genes associated with glycolysis (Kroemer & Pouyssegur, 2008). Furthermore, HIF-1 concomitantly induces anabolic pathways such as the synthesis of lipids or glycogen favoring the glucose storage for later use (Krishnan et al., 2009; Pescador et al., 2010). A balance between catabolism and anabolism is achieved by the adenosine-monophosphate-(AMP) activated protein kinase, which reacts to the AMP/ATP ratio (Brahimi-Horn et al., 2011).

Moreover, HIF-1 initiates epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, a mechanism demonstrated to promote cell survival by allowing further oxygen-independent invasion of the tissue (Brahimi-Horn et al., 2011).

LDH represents the key player of the Warburg effect, which is responsible for the glycolytic phenotype (Warburg, 1925). Its subunit, LDHA, is frequently overexpressed in cancer cells and known to be HIF-1 regulated (Hirschhaeuser et al., 2011). LDHA and its role in tumor progression have been examined in lots of studies. The homotetramer LDH-5, consisting of four M subunits, was found to be frequently expressed in many tumors, particularly in highly aggressive ones (Yao et al., 2014). Recent studies, however, showed that its corresponding subunit B should not be underestimated either regarding its contribution to tumorigenesis (McCleland et al., 2013).

The glycolytic phenotype is therefore closely linked to the oncogenic transformation, maintenance, and progression (DeBerardinis et al., 2008; Le et al., 2010). Thus, the metabolic reprogramming is not only a cancer associated characteristic that occurs in 70-80% of human cancers (Vaupel & Multhoff, 2020) and is a distinctive feature, but also provides favorable conditions for the development of the other six hallmarks. Hence, aerobic glycolysis should be considered a promising therapeutic target regarding

its role in tumorigenesis and the codependence between other hallmarks. (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011)

## 3.2.2.3 Clinical implication

High glucose-to-pyruvate turnover and increased lactate production correlate with aggressive tumor phenotypes. Tumors with increased lactate levels display a significantly higher incident of distant metastases (Walenta et al., 2000). Lactate accumulation due to increased LDH activity, especially LDH-5, inversely correlates with patient survival in primary cervical cancer, head and neck squamous cell and colorectal carcinoma whereas low lactate levels are associated with longer overall and disease-free survival (Walenta & Mueller-Klieser, 2004; Walenta et al., 2000). Similar results were found in patients with glioblastoma multiforme, where high lactate levels correlated with poor survival (Saraswathy et al., 2009).

To assess its role in tumorigenicity, several studies investigated the effects of either LDHA inhibition or knockout which resulted in anti-proliferative effects (Augoff et al., 2015), tumor growth suppression (Sheng et al., 2012) and even regression (Xie et al., 2014), *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Even though less is known about the role of LDHB, further findings also indicate a contribution to tumor progression in several entities (McCleland et al., 2012).

Moreover, increased LDH activity correlates with impaired responses to radio-, chemo- and immunotherapy (Koukourakis et al., 2006; Koukourakis et al., 2011; Sattler, Meyer, et al., 2010). This can partly be explained by the antioxidant properties of lactate, which can compensate the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) as a result of cell stress caused by anticancer therapy (Sattler, Hirschhaeuser, et al., 2010).

Bearing those clinical findings in mind, LDH displays a promising target in cancer therapy, as it enables a decisive impairment of the tumor's metabolic system.

## 3.2.2.4 GNE-140

Much effort has been spent developing suitable agents to target LDH. The first inhibitor described was the natural analog of pyruvate – Oxamate (Novoa et al., 1959). Since the importance of LDH has been demonstrated repeatedly, the search for suitable inhibitors continues and has led to the discovery of several more, mostly targeting LDH-5. Currently, the inhibitors, which consist of either natural or synthetic molecules, can be categorized mainly according to the following criteria: pyruvate-competitive, NADH-competitive, free enzyme-binding or other mechanisms (Cheng et al., 2021).

Inhibitors such as 3-((3-carbamoyl-7-(3,5-dimethylisoxazole-4-yl)-6methoxyquinolin-4-yl) amino) benzoic acid (Billiard et al., 2013), FX11 [3dihydroxy-6-methyl-7-(phenylmethyl)-4-propylnaphthalene-1-carboxylic acid]) (Le et al., 2010) or N-hydroxyindole-based agents (Granchi et al., 2011) mimic the substrates or cofactors interaction with the enzyme whereas others like Galloflavin, for example, are non-competitive (Farabegoli et al., 2012). Only few of these inhibitors, however, are suitable for experimental use as they are not selective or lack cellular activity, leading to non-specific toxicity.

Besides, *in vivo* practice requires not only efficacy at the cellular level but also suitable pharmacokinetic properties such as good oral bioavailability and adequate clearance. Hence, most of the inhibitors above are limited to *in vitro* practice. (Billiard et al., 2013; Dragovich et al., 2013; Fauber et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019).

GNE-140 was first described and developed by Dragovich et al. (2013). Its chemical structure is depicted in Figure 3. This novel small-molecule LDH inhibitor manages to target LDHA and LDHB with a half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) of 0.003 and 0.005 µM without affecting structurally similar dehydrogenase enzymes, thus indicating a high substrate specificity (Boudreau et al., 2016). The ability to inhibit both subunits increases efficiency in terms of the fact that LDHA and LDHB can compensate for the deficiency of the other subunit under metabolic pressure (Zdralevic et al., 2018). According to 2.2-Å X-ray structure, GNE-140 binds to the active site of the enzyme via a hydrogen bridge bond, adjacent to the cofactor NADH, which means that it acts as a non-competitive inhibitor (Boudreau et al., 2016). Regarding its high potency, specificity, and favorable pharmacokinetic properties, GNE-140 can be utilized for *in vitro* as well as for *in vivo* studies (Boudreau et al., 2016).



Figure 3. Chemical structure of GNE-140.
### 4 Aim of the study

Colorectal carcinoma represents one of the most common malignancies worldwide. Despite the variety of therapeutic regimes including surgery, combined chemotherapeutic regimes, molecular targeting, and irradiation it remains a major cause of cancer-related deaths. Rising incidence and high mortality rates further stress the need for novel therapy approaches. (Ferlay et al., 2020; Sung et al., 2021)

One major characteristic uniting CRC with a variety of other tumor cell lines is the overexpression of heat shock proteins (Chen et al., 2011; Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005; Gunaldi et al., 2015; Kocsis et al., 2010). This subset of chaperones is known to immensely support tumor cell survival and resistance to apoptosis (Soo et al., 2008). Knowledge regarding the interaction of the stress response with the lactate metabolism, however, is currently limited.

The glycolytic phenotype of tumors, which results from increased glucose uptake due to high metabolic demands as it was described by Warburg (1925), not only maintains malignancy, but also promotes aggressiveness via immunosuppression (Brand et al., 2016; Fischer et al., 2007) and increases the metastatic potential (Swietach et al., 2007).

Both mechanisms – the stress response system and the aerobic glycolysis – have repeatedly been demonstrated to play a decisive role in tumorigenesis. In order to assess whether there is a dependence between these two major pillars of cancer, LDH, the key enzyme of lactate metabolism, was specifically targeted using the inhibitor GNE-140.

The intervention's effects on the HSP-HSF1 axis were determined by analyzing protein expression levels both intracellularly and on the membrane.

Thus, this work aimed to study, whether these metabolic changes would affect the phenotype, since increased heat shock protein expression is known to mediate radioresistance. In this respect, radiosensitivity was determined in LDH-suppressed cells compared to untreated control cells. Despite auspicious discoveries from *in vitro* studies, the direct targeting of HSPs has not been proven to be a successful strategy so far. Regarding its profound contribution to tumorigenicity, impairing the HSP-HSF1 axis is nevertheless a promising approach. Moreover, pharmacological targeting of LDH might inflict the stress response system in a way that sensitizes colorectal cancer cells to break therapy resistance.

The overall aim of this study was therefore to investigate the relationship between lactate metabolism and HSP expression in the human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line, LS174T, as a basis to develop more efficient therapy approaches for CRC.

# 5 Material and methods

### 5.1 Material

#### 5.1.1 Chemicals and reagents

Product	Manufacturing company
Acetic acid	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Acrylamide/Bis Rotiphorese 40%	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Ammonium persulfate (APS)	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Ampicillin	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
β-Mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Bromophenol blue	Serva, Heidelberg
Crystal violet 0.1%	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Dimethyl sulfoxid (DMSO)	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Ethanol	Brüggemann, Heilbronn, Germany
GNE-140 (LDH A/B/C IC50 = 3/5/5 nM)	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Methanol	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Propanol	Otto Fischar, Saarbrücken
Propidium-iodid (PI)	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham,
	Massachusetts (MA), United States of
	America (USA)
Ponceau S	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Skim milk powder	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Sodium deoxycholate	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane (TRIS)	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Trypan blue	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Tween20	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany

 Table 2. List of chemicals and reagents.

# 5.1.2 Cell culture media and supplements, tissue culture flasks

Product	Manufacturing company
12-well, 96-well plates	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany

Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sarstedt AG, Nümbrecht, Germany
Corning, Corning, New York, USA
Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Greiner Bio-One International GmbH,
Frickenhausen, Germany
Gilson, Middleton, USA
Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany

**Table 3.** List of cell culture media, supplements and tissue culture flasks.

# 5.1.3 Buffers

Buffer	Composition	Application
Fluorescence-activated cell	– PBS	FACS
scanning (FACS) buffer	- 10% FBS	
Loading buffer, 4× concentrated	– 8% SDS	Gel
	<ul> <li>40% glycerol</li> </ul>	electrophoresis
	<ul> <li>0.008 % bromophenol</li> </ul>	
	blue	
	– 250 mM TRIS	
	<ul> <li>20% β-mercaptoethanol</li> </ul>	
Ponceau dilution	– 0,1 % Ponceau S	Western Blot
	<ul> <li>5 % acetic acid</li> </ul>	
Radioimmunoprecipitation assay	– 150 mM NaCl	Sample
(RIPA) buffer	– 1 mM EDTA	preparation for
	- 1% Triton X-100	Western Blot
	– 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0	

	_	0.5% sodium	
		deoxycholate	
	_	0.1% SDS	
	_	Protease inhibitor	
		cocktail (Roche, Basel,	
		Switzerland)	
Running buffer, 5× concentrated	_	125 mM TRIS	Gel
	_	1,25 M glycine	electrophoresis
	_	0.5% SDS	
Transfer buffer	_	38 mM glycine	Western Blot
	_	48 mM TRIS	
	_	2.88 M methanol	
	_	0.04% SDS	
Tris-buffered saline (TBS), $5\times$	_	100 mM TRIS	Western Blot
concentrated	-	680 mM NaCl	
TBS with Tween20 (TBST)	_	×1 TBS	Western Blot
	_	0.05% Tween20	

Table 4. List of buffers.

# 5.1.4 Molecular biology kits

Product	Manufacturing company
Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity Kit	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Pierce™ BCA Protein Assay Kit	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA
Pierce™ ECL Western Kit	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA

 Table 5. List of molecular biology kits.

# 5.1.5 Antibodies

Antibody	Code	Donor	Features	Dilution	Manufacturing
					company
Anti-ß-Actin	A2228	mouse	primary	1:10,000	Sigma-Aldrich,
					Taufkirchen,
					Germany
Anti-Hsp27	NBP2-	mouse	primary	1:1,000	Novus
	32972				Biologicals,
					Centennial,
					Colorado, USA
Anti-Hsp70	cmHsp70.1	mouse	primary	1:500	multimmune,
lgG1					Munich,Germany
Anti-membrane-	mAb	mouse	primary,	1:15	multimmune,
Hsp70 lgG1			fluorescein		Munich,Germany
			isothiocyan		
			ate (FITC)-		
			labeled		
Anti-Hsp90	4874	rabbit	primary	1:1,000	Cell Signaling
					Technology,
					Danvers, MA,
					USA
Anti-mouse	P0260	rabbit	secondary	1:2,000	Dako-Agilent,
immunoglobulin					Santa Clara,
G (IgG)					

					California (CA),
					USA
Anti-rabbit IgG	P0217	swine	secondary	1:1,000	Dako-Agilent,
					Santa Clara, CA,
					USA
Isotype matched	345815	mouse	primary,	-	BD Biosciences,
control			FITC-		Heidelberg,
immunoglobulin			labeled		Germany
subclass G1					
(IgG1)					

 Table 6. List of antibodies.

# 5.1.6 Cell lines

Cell line	Dilution	Туре	9	Medium	Supplier
LS174T	$0.06 \times 10^6$ cells/	ml Hum	ian	DMEM	ATCC,
wildtype		colo	rectal	+ 10% FBS	Manassas,
		ader	nocarcinoma	+ 1% P/S	USA
		cell l	ine	+ 2 mM L-glutamine	
				+ 1 mM sodium	
				pyruvate	
LS174T	$0.12 \times 10^6$ cells/	ml Hum	ian	DMEM	Kindly
LDHA/B		colo	rectal	+ 10% FBS	provided by
double		ader	nocarcinoma	+ 1% P/S	Marina
knockout		cell l	ine	+ 2 mM L-glutamine	Kreutz and
				+ 1 mM sodium	Jacques
				pyruvate	Pouyssegur

Table 7. List of cell lines.

# 5.1.7 Instruments and devices

Product	Manufacturing company
Amersham™ Hybond™ ECL Nitrocellulose	GE Healthcare UK LIMITED, Amersham
Membrane	Place, United Kingdom

Bioreader® 3000	Bio-Sys GmbH, Karben, Germany
Cell Culture CO <sub>2</sub> -Incubator Hera cell 240i	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA,
	USA
ChemiDoc™ Touch Imaging System	Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA
CellRad compact benchtop X-ray irradiator	Precision X-Ray, North Branford, CT, USA
CELLSTAR® serological pipette 2/5/0/5/50	Greiner Bio-One International GmbH,
ml	Frickenhausen, Germany
FACSCalibur™ flow cytometer	BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany
Hoefer™ Mighty Small™ II electrophoresis	Hoefer Scientific instruments, San
system	Francisco, CA, USA
Hoefer™ Mighty Small™ II multiple gel caster	Hoefer Scientific instruments, San
SE 200 series	Francisco, CA, USA
Intelli-Mixer™ rm-2l Rotating wheel	LTF- Labortechnik GmbH, Wasserburg,
	Germany
Magnet Thermo Stirrer RCT basic	IKA, Staufen, Germany
Microscope Primovert	Carl Zeiss AG, Oberkochen, Germany
Neubauer hemocytometer	Marienfeld, Lauda- Königshofen, Germany
Safety hood ENVAIR eco Safe Comfort	Envair Deutschland GmbH,
	Emmendingen, Germany
Stripettor™ Ultra Pipet Controller	Corning, Corning, New York, USA
Thermo Scientific™ Heraeus™ Fresco 17	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA,
centrifuge	USA
Thermo Scientific™ Heraeus™ Fresco 21	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA,
centrifuge	USA
Thermo Scientific™ Heraeus™ Megafuge	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA,
16R centrifuge	USA
ThermoStat plus heating block	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Trans-Blot® Turbo™ Transfer System	Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA
Electrophoresis Power Supply EPS 301	Amersham pharmacia biotech
ph- meter ph720 InoLab	WTW, Weilheim, Germany
Pioneer™ Precision Weighing station	Ohaus Europe GmbH, Nänikon,
	Switzerland
Pipettes Pipetman Classic P2, P10, P20,	Gilson, Middleton, USA
P100, P200, P1000	
VICTOR™ X4 Multilabel Reader 2030	PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA

Vortex	Starlab International GmbH, Hamburg,
	Germany

 Table 8. List of instruments and devices.

# 5.1.8 Software

Software	Supplier		
BD CellQuest™ Pro	BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany		
ImageJ	https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/download/,		
	accessed on 12 October 2022 (Schneider et		
	al., 2012)		
PerkinElmer 2030 Manager	PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA		
Microsoft® Excel	Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA		
	USA		

Table 9. List of software.

#### 5.2 Methods

#### 5.2.1 Cell culturing

Wildtype, LDHA and LDHB double knockout cells of the human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line LS174T were used for this study. All cells were incubated at a temperature of 37°C in a 95%-humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. T75 cell culture flasks were used to grow the cells in DMEM 10% 1% supplemented with fetal bovine serum and penicillin/streptomycin. Media were exchanged along with the cell splitting at least twice a week, depending on the color of the medium, which indicates more acidic conditions when changing to orange. The growth density was aimed at being in the range of 75-90%. It is crucial to maintain standardized culturing conditions to exclude these as a cause of fluctuations in HSP levels.

Adherent tumor cells were first briefly washed with 6 ml of phosphate buffered saline after removing the medium. Two milliliters of trypsin-EDTA-solution were added followed by a 2-3 min incubation at 37°C to remove the cells from the surface. To inactivate trypsin, the threefold volume, 6 ml, of fresh medium was applied. After proper resuspension and counting, the cells were seeded in new flasks filled with 12 ml of medium. Due to lower proliferation rates of the knockout cells, a larger quantity had to be seeded to establish growth conditions similar to those of the wildtype (Zdralevic et al., 2018). For a splitting rhythm of four days  $0.8 \times 10^6$  wildtype cells and  $1.6 \times 10^6$  knockout cells were seeded. A span of three days required an increased number of  $1.2 \times 10^6$  and  $2.4 \times 10^6$  cells.

To harvest the cells, they were detached according to the splitting protocol above. If cells were seeded in T25 flasks used for FACS analysis and LDH activity assays, only 1 ml of Trypsin was used and inhibited with 3 ml of medium. A medium volume of 5 ml was added to smaller flasks, where cells were harvested 48 h later. Cells were routinely checked for mycoplasma contamination.

# 5.2.2 Cell counting

The cell number was estimated with a Neubauer hemocytometer according to the Trypan Blue exclusion method. After proper resuspension, 20 µl of Trypan Blue were added to the same volume of cell-containing medium which again was thoroughly mixed to fill up one side of the hemocytometer below the cover slip. Trypan blue is a non-permeable dye that cannot pass intact membranes, e.g., the ones of viable cells, meaning that dye-uptake only takes place in dead cells. Therefore, it can serve as a method to visualize viability. To assess the proliferation, cells were counted in two of four 4×4 large corner squares excluding the colored, non-viable ones. The total cell number was calculated according to the following formula:  $\frac{cells}{ml} = number of cells counted × 10^4$ .

A more accurate approach was pursued when seeding cells for colony forming assays (CFA) by counting all four large squares and dividing them in half afterwards.

## 5.2.3 Treatment procedure

GNE-140 was dissolved in DMSO, creating a 4mM stock solution. Cells were incubated with a sublethal dose of 10  $\mu$ M of the GNE-140 solution for 24 hours before experiments were conducted. Control groups were treated with the same concentration of DMSO to exclude any effects the dilutant might have on HSP expression.

# 5.2.4 LDH activity assay

The assay was performed to measure the enzyme's activity in the LS174T cell lines: the wildtype and the *LDHA*- and *B* double knockout. Moreover, control and treated groups were established to assess the GNE-140 inhibitor in a qualitative and quantitative manner.

The Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity Assay Kit from Sigma-Aldrich® was used for this purpose. Based on the enzyme's ability to reduce NAD<sup>+</sup> during the conversion of lactate to pyruvate, this method is able to detect increased NADH colorimetrically at a wavelength of 450 nm, which indicates high LDH activity. (Sigma- Aldrich, 2018)

Before conducting the assay, cells were seeded two days in advance: 0.5 Mio for the wildtype and 1 Mio for the knockout. Doublets were prepared for each cell line. The treatment-group was incubated with 10  $\mu$ Mol of GNE-140 for 24 hours, whereas the control group only received the solvent DMSO.

The following steps were carried out according to the manufacturer's protocol. After harvesting and counting,  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were rapidly homogenized on ice with 500 µl of cold LDH assay buffer and then centrifuged at  $10,000 \times g$  and  $4^{\circ}$ C for 15 min. The soluble fraction was used for the assay, the insoluble material was removed. If not directly assayed, samples could be stored at -20°C. Wildtype samples were diluted in PBS creating a 1:25 ratio solution before being measured and filled up to a final volume of 50 µl with the assay buffer. All NADH standards and samples were run in duplicates. To start the reaction, 50 µl of the Master reaction mix were put into each well. The initial measurement was taken after 2-3 min [(A<sub>450nm</sub>)initial], then every 10 min until the least active sample reached the lowest value of the standard [(A<sub>450nm</sub>)final]. To correct the final measurements for background signal, the NADH blank standard value had to be subtracted. After establishing the linear standard curve derived from the absorbance and known NADH concentrations, the amount of NADH produced between (A<sub>450nm</sub>)initial and (A<sub>450nm</sub>)final in each sample could be determined. The LDH activity was calculated according to following formula:

 $\frac{amount of NADH (nmole)}{reaction time (min) \times sample volume (ml)} \times sample dilution factor = LDH -$ 

activity  $\left(\frac{mU}{ml}\right)$ .

(Sigma- Aldrich, 2018)

# 5.2.5 Flow cytometry analysis

Flow cytometry analysis, also known as FACS-analysis, allows the characterization of single-cell suspensions with regard to surface markers, granularity, size and also intracellular localized features. When passing through the capillary of the flow cytometer, cells absorb the incident light, usually coming from a laser beam and emit photons at certain wavelengths. Photodetectors collect a fraction of this emitted light and generate electrical signals as a response to the optical impulses. Each cell is analyzed by its light scattering in at least two directions. The forward scatter indicates the cell size, whereas the sideward scatter at 90° represents a cell's granularity. Besides light scattering, further analysis can be achieved using fluorescence-labeled substrates, e.g., antibodies against surface proteins. Laser light can excite fluorophores, which leads to the emission of photons at certain wavelengths. The fluorescence activity can be detected and measured independently of the light scattering. Therefore, the flow cytometer machine is able to measure multiple emissions at specific wavelengths and repeat this process for each passing cell. After amplification and accumulation, these electrical signals can be presented in multiparameter dot plots, which are used for characterization. (Tanke & van der Keur, 1993)

In this study flowcytometry was used to measure the Hsp70 membrane expression on the LS174T cells after incubation with GNE-140 compared to the untreated wildtype and the *LDHA*- and *B* double knockout cells. Cells,  $0.5 \times 10^6$  of the wildtype and  $1.0 \times 10^6$  of the knockout line, were seeded two days in advance. A control group (ctrl.) only treated with the

solvent DMSO was established for each cell line. 24 hours after incubation with GNE-140, cells were harvested and counted. 0.2  $\times\,10^6$  cells were transferred into Eppendorf tubes creating doublets for each sample. The cell pellets were resuspended in 1 ml of PBS before being centrifuged again at 500 g and 4°C for 4 min. After taking off the supernatant, the cell pellets were dried and each sample doublet was incubated on ice for 30 min with either 20 µl of FITC-labeled mHsp70 antibody (cmHsp70.1, lgG1; multimmune GmbH, Munich, Germany) or 5 µl of a FITC-conjugated control antibody (Mouse IgG1 FITC, 345815, BD Biosciences). The isotype-matched control antibody was used to detect the background staining due to unspecific binding and to exclude it from further analysis. One more washing step with PBS was repeated after the incubation, before adding 200 µl of FACS buffer to the cell pellet. Shortly before measuring, 2 µl of propidium iodide were added and transferred into tubes. PI is membrane impermeant dye which is used to distinguish between dead and viable cells. To analyze the amount of membrane-Hsp70 positive cells only propidium negative and therefore viable cells were gated. The membrane-Hsp70-positivity was determined as the percentage of antibody-bound cells among viable ones from which the staining of the control group was subtracted. All data was generated by the FACSCalibur<sup>™</sup> flow cytometer and analyzed with BD CellQuest<sup>™</sup> Pro (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany).

#### 5.2.6 Protein analysis

#### 5.2.6.1 Sample preparation (cell lysis & BCA assay)

Cells were seeded three days before harvesting:  $0.8 \times 10^6$  cells for the LS174T wildtype and  $1.6 \times 10^6$  of the *LDHA*- and *B* double knockout cells. For each cell line there was a control group incubated with DMSO and a counterpart which was treated with GNE-140. After harvesting, counting, and washing three times with PBS,  $2 \times 10^6$  cells were incubated on ice with 80-100 µl of RIPA buffer for 30 min, followed by centrifugation for 20 min at 12,000 *g* and 4°C to pellet the non-soluble material. The supernatant with cytosolic proteins was collected afterwards and stored at -20°C.

Protein concentrations were determined colorimetrically with the Pierce<sup>™</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The underlying mechanism here is the combination of a biuretic reaction and the selective detection of cuprous cations using bicinchoninic acid (BCA). BCA reacts with the reduced Cu<sup>1+</sup> formed during chelation with protein in an alkaline environment. This reaction leads to the formation of an intensely violet-colored product with a linear absorbance at a wavelength of 562 nm, which is proportional to the protein concentration. (Thermo Fisher Scientific, n.d.)

The working reagent was mixed with 50 parts of agent A and one part of agent B. Then, 200  $\mu$ l of the solution were added to 25  $\mu$ l of the samples to start the reaction. 30 minutes after the plate was incubated at a temperature of 37°C, the absorbance was measured at a wavelength of 562 nm using a photometer. For a loading amount of 20  $\mu$ g and a desired sample volume of 20  $\mu$ l, protein solutions were mixed with 5 $\mu$ l of loading buffer and filled up to 20  $\mu$ l with distilled water. SDS-containing loading buffer was added before the samples were heated at 95°C for 10 min to denature the proteins. If not used immediately, samples could be stored at -20°C.

## 5.2.6.2 SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

To analyze and quantify the cytoplasmic amounts of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27, an SDS-PAGE was performed. This analytical method established by Laemmli (Laemmli, 1970) allows the separation of proteins based solely on their molecular weight.

For this, sodium-dodecyl-sulfate-containing buffer was used to denature the proteins and to coat them with a negative charge. After applying an electric field, the proteins were pulled towards the positively charged anode and separated according to their molecular mass. As a result, similarly-sized proteins formed characteristic bands.

Gels were prepared in advance consisting of acrylamide, Tris buffer with a pH of 8.6 for the upper and pH 6.8 for the lower separating component, 10% ammonium persulfate, 10% SDS, and TEMED. Various acrylamide concentrations of 34-40% were established to prepare the gels. High percentages allowed proper separation in the range of small-sized proteins, e.g., Hsp27.

To identify the bands after the run, a colored standard protein marker was used as a reference. The power supply was set at 80 V and 20 mA per gel and applied for 2 h 30 min.

### 5.2.6.3 Western Blotting

After SDS-PAGE, the size-separated protein samples were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes by semi-dry Western Blotting based on the protocol of Goldman et al. (2015).

Gels, membranes, and filter paper were soaked in transfer buffer for 10 minutes before being placed in the blotting machine, the setup of which is illustrated schematically in Figure 4.

The transfer was performed at 60 V and 45mA per gel for 1h 30 min. The negatively charged proteins were pulled towards the anode and onto the membrane, where immunological detection was then possible. After blotting, Ponceau S solution was used to stain the membranes and make the bands visible to cut them into strips.

Membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBST for one hour at room temperature and then incubated with the primary antibody-solution overnight at 4°C. This was followed by three washing steps with TBST for 15 min each. Matching secondary antibodies were used to incubate the membranes afterwards for one hour before repeating the washing steps. After developing the membranes with the Pierce<sup>TM</sup> ECL Western Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), immune complexes were visualized via chemiluminescence using the ChemiDoc<sup>TM</sup> Touch Imaging System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The intensities of the resulting bands were quantified with the ImageJ-program. All analyzed heat shock protein bands were normalized to  $\beta$ -actin and compared to the untreated wild type cells as a reference.



**Figure 4.** Schematic assembly of a semi-dry Western Blot. 1: Filter paper; 2: Polyacrylamide gel; 3: Nitrocellulose membrane. Flow direction for proteins from anode (+) to cathode (-).

## 5.2.7 Colony formation assays

Colony formation assays were performed to analyze cell survival based on the ability of single cells to establish colonies *in vitro* (Franken et al., 2006). It is the method of choice to assess reproductive capacities and viability both of which can be impaired by cytotoxic agents and radiation (Franken et al., 2006). In this study, CFAs were carried out to analyze the effects of LDH inhibition on radiosensitivity.

Cells, 800/1,000 for the wildtype and 1,600/2,000 for the knockout line, were seeded in 12-well plates two days before irradiation after a 24-hour-incubation with GNE-140. Irradiation was performed with the CellRad compact benchtop X-ray irradiator (Precision X-Ray, North Branford, CT, USA). Single doses of 0 Gy, 2 Gy, 4 Gy, and 6 Gy were applied at a dose rate of 1 Gy/min (5 mA, 130 kV).

After approximately seven days, the plates were stained. This required a washing step with PBS and a 5 min fixation with ice-cold methanol, followed by a 3 min stain with 0.1% crystal violet. Colonies reaching an appropriate size of more than 50 cells were counted manually. Plating efficiency (PE) and surviving fraction (SF) were calculated for each group to assess the effects of the intervention.

### 5.2.8 Statistical analysis

Experiments were conducted at least three times independently of each other to establish biological replicates. For the comparison of two groups, statistical analysis was performed using the Student's t-test. Significant results are displayed with the following marks:  $*p \le 0.05$ ;  $**p \le 0.01$ ;  $***p \le 0.001$ . Most graphs show standard deviation of the data.

## 6 Results

This study focuses on the biological aspects of impaired lactate metabolism.

For this purpose, LS174T colorectal adenocarcinoma wildtype cells were treated with the LDH inhibitor GNE-140 and compared with *LDHA* and *B* double knockout cells regarding heat shock protein expression and its effects on the phenotypic level, i.e., radiosensitivity.

Within the framework of a greater study, several additional experiments were performed to analyze the effects of the metabolic switch, including proteomic and ROS analysis, cell proliferation assays, and immunohistochemistry. (Schwab et al., 2021) These results will be addressed later in the discussion section.

# 6.1 LDH activity

LDH activity was measured colorimetrically using an assay to demonstrate the successful knockout of *LDHA* and *B* and to examine the efficacy of the inhibitor. It therefore served as a quality control.

Cell lines treated with GNE-140 in fact showed a significantly decreased LDH activity compared to the control group (Figure 5). The activity levels of the knockout cell lines were barely measurable which proved that the Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated (Cas) application was successful. *LDHA/B* double knockout cells treated with GNE-140 had very low and almost identical activity levels compared to the control group, confirming the hypothesis that the LDH inhibitor has no impact if the corresponding enzyme is not expressed.



**Figure 5.** Lactate dehydrogenase activity in LS174T cells. Effects of GNE-140 (10  $\mu$ M, 24h) on wildtype (WT) and *LDHA/B* double knockout cells (LDH) compared to control groups (ctrl.) (\*: p ≤0.05 and \*\*\*: p ≤ 0.001)

## 6.2 Effects on the expression of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27

Western Blots were conducted to analyze whether the inhibition of LDH affects the expression of heat shock proteins. The measured intracellular levels of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 were normalized to  $\beta$ -actin, which serves as a housekeeping protein. Accordingly, the values were compared with the wildtype control group, which was determined to be 100%. The results are depicted in Figure 6.

The greatest reduction in the amount of protein was observed for Hsp27 levels, which fell by more than 19% in LS174T wildtype cells after treatment with GNE-140 and by approximately 40% in *LDH*-knockout cells. The amount of Hsp90 decreased significantly by 6% after treatment with GNE-140. In *LDHA*/B double knockout cells, the Hsp90 level dropped by 10%. Similar to the other proteins, the amount of intracellular Hsp70 was reduced by 14% in the inhibited wildtype and by up to 26% in the genetically disrupted cell line. In summary, the protein levels of all HSPs investigated were concomitantly downregulated upon LDH inhibition. HSP suppression reached its maximum in knockout cells confirming that this

effect is strictly mediated by LDH inhibition. No remarkable difference was observed in the treatment of *LDHA*/B double knockout cells with GNE-140 compared to the control group. This is in line with the results of the LDH activity measurements.



**Figure 6.** Representative immunoblot displaying intracellular levels of Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 in LS174T wildtype and *LDHA/B*-double-knockout cells. Control groups and GNE-140 treated groups were compared.  $\beta$ -Actin was used as a loading control. HSP-levels were relatively quantified according to the wildtype control group. Error bars show the standard deviation (\*: p ≤0.05, \*\*: p ≤ 0.01 and \*\*\*: p ≤ 0.001).

FACS analysis was performed to analyze membrane Hsp70 levels. Figure 7 depicts representative data of untreated wildtype populations. The population of interest was gated after staining with an antibody against membrane-bound Hsp70. Only viable, i.e., PI-negative populations, were analyzed. The corresponding Hsp70 membrane expression of the gated population is illustrated in histograms (Figure 7). Unspecific binding was detected using an isotype-matched IgG control antibody (Figure 8b). The percentage of non-specific staining was deducted from the one of Hsp70positively stained cells (Figure 8a).

In addition to the reduction of intracellular chaperone levels, FACS analysis revealed that Hsp70 membrane expression was similarly affected (Figure 9, 10). The histograms in Figure 9 depict the specific mHsp70 positivity for each group investigated. Whereas over 50% of the untreated wildtype cells presented Hsp70 on the plasma membrane, populations treated with GNE-140 only reached 27% (Figure 10). *LDHA/B* double knockout cells in turn showed an even greater decline, with values around 23% (Figure 10).



**Figure 7.** Representative FACS analysis of the untreated wildtype population. The upper two Dotplots show the cell population of interest analyzed after staining with Hsp70 membrane antibodies. The histogram at the bottom depicts the corresponding percentage of mHsp70 expression in the gated population.



**Figure 8.** Representative histograms of the untreated wildtype population. Each group (WT ctrl/GNE; LDH ctrl/GNE) was stained with a membrane Hsp70 antibody and an isotype IgG to detect unspecific binding. (a): WT ctrl. Hsp70 IgG-stained; (b): WT ctrl. IgG isotype-stained.



**Figure 9.** Representative histograms comparing the mHsp70 expression of the wildtype and knockout cell groups (% gated). (a): WT ctrl. (b): WT GNE (c) LDH ctrl. (d) LDH GNE.



**Figure 10.** Hsp70 membrane expression in different cell populations.

#### 6.3 Consequences of LDH suppression on radiosensitivity

As mHsp70 overexpression is known to mediate radioresistance, CFAs were conducted to evaluate whether these effects could be counteracted by LDH inhibition. The results are demonstrated in cell survival curves which describe the relationship between the SF of cells and the radiation exposure dose. Following equation was used to calculate the SF:

$$SF(\%) = \frac{number \ of \ colonies \ counted}{number \ of \ colonies \ seeded \times PE} \times 100$$

Accordingly, the PE was determined:

$$PE (\%) = \frac{number of colonies counted}{number of colonies seeded} \times 100$$

Clonogenicity is defined as the capacity of a single cell to survive and proliferate after a certain treatment. Loss of reproductive integrity therefore determines reproductive death, as it happens to take place in non-static cells such as those of a tumor. This may result from a biological disorder due to irradiation-impaired DNA or other structures. X-rays, which were used for irradiation, are considered to be beams with low linear energy transfer. In this case, two thirds of the damage is caused by indirect effects via the formation of free radicals leading to changes in chemical bonds that can be lethal. (Radiation Oncology Physics, 2005)

The cell survival curves represent a function in which the SF on the ordinate is logarithmically plotted against the dose on the abscissa. Effects of radiation on tumor cells, i.e., quantification of radiosensitivity, were described using the linear-quadratic (LQ) model.

$$SF = e^{-\alpha D - \beta D^2}$$

It derives from the hypothesis that, in addition to the applied dose (D) tissue specific parameters  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  further affect the SF. Alpha serves as the linear component of the function. Hence, it determines the initial slope. The term beta, on the other hand, represents the quadratic portion, which defines the curvature in the range of higher doses. (Lütter, 2012) Specific LQ-models were established for each cell line (Table 10).

	WT ctrl.	WT GNE	LDH ctrl.	LDH GNE
α	0.3607	0.5000	0.8078	0.6796
β	-0.0055	-0.0249	-0.0369	-0.0110

**Table 10.** Alpha and beta values for wildtype and knockout cell lines according to the linear quadratic model.

To evaluate how quickly cells can cope and respond to irradiation, the  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio can be used as a reference. In this case, however,  $\beta$  values were negative so that  $\beta \approx 0$  was approximated (Table 10). Consequently, the

equation developed into a linear dependency, whereby the quadratic component, which was represented by  $\beta$ , was omitted.

This relationship could be deduced from the shape of the curve (Figure 11b). As expected, high irradiation led to a significant decrease in the SF, resulting in a gradient between the wildtype and the knockout cell lines, the latter of which appear to be more radiosensitive (Figure 11). Although the gradient between the control group and the one treated with GNE-140 diminished with higher irradiation doses, a tendency towards increased radiosensitivity was observed for the intervention group.

Likewise, knockout cell lines demonstrated even greater radiosensitivity when higher doses were administered, so that the SF was even lower compared to the other two groups (Figure 11). Statistically significant results, however, could only be reached for an irradiation dose of 2 Gy.  $D_{50}$  values, i.e., the half maximal inhibitory dose required to reduce the SF down to 50%, confirmed the indicated relative radiosensitivity above (Table 11).

	WT ctrl	WT GNE	LDH ctrl	LDH GNE
D <sub>50</sub>	1.40	1.20	0.95	1.02

 Table 11. D<sub>50</sub> values for wildtype and knockout cell lines.

The highest of approximately 1.4 Gy was determined for the wildtype control group followed by the GNE-140-treated group with a decrease of 0.2 Gy. Knockout cell lines achieved the lowest  $D_{50}$  values. The sensitizer enhancement ratio (SER) can used to evaluate the properties of the LDH inhibitor to make cells more susceptible to irradiation.

$$SER = \frac{D_{50}(control \, group)}{D_{50}(intervention \, group)}.$$

GNE-140-treated groups reached a respective SER of 1.16, whereas the knockout cells achieved one of 1.47 compared to the wildtype control

group. In conclusion, radiosensitivity was more pronounced in knockout cell lines and in the intervention group.



**Figure 11.** Survival fractions of the subpopulation as a function of the radiation dose, illustrated in bar charts (a) and the corresponding survival curves (b). Error bars in (a) show the standard deviation (\*:  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*:  $p \le 0.01$ ).

### 7 Discussion

This study contributes to the investigation of cancer metabolism and its interaction with the stress response system within the framework of a comprehensive project (Schwab et al., 2021). The glycolytic phenotype of many cancer entities, including CRC, is characterized by increased energetic demands. This leads to higher LDH activity – a phenomenon also known as the Warburg effect (Walenta et al., 2000; Warburg et al., 1927). Moreover, not only metabolic changes have a positive effect on tumorigenicity but also the upscaling of the heat shock response, which is reflected in elevated levels of HSPs (Ciocca et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2015a). This unique group of proteins is of further interest due to its interaction with multiple clients many of which are involved in carcinogenesis and metastasis (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

A co-dependent relationship between these pro-tumorigenic mechanisms was already suggested by Guan and colleagues. They have demonstrated that heat-induced overexpression of Hsp70 was associated with increased LDHA activity and concomitantly enhanced lactate production in immature Sertoli cells of the boar (Guan et al., 2018). Similar effects were observed in human cervical cancer cells: high cytosolic Hsp70 levels correlated with enhanced glycolytic activity, thus promoting the Warburg effect (Wang et al., 2012).

Nevertheless, not only lactate production seems to affect the HSP-axis. Elevated glycolytic flux leads to accumulation of methylglyoxal (MGO), a well-known and highly reactive by-product (Richard, 1993), which binds Hsp27 to form an even more stable and active agent (Oya-Ito et al., 2011). MGO-Hsp27 favors cancer cell escape from apoptosis by suppressing caspase activation (Sakamoto et al., 2002) and stabilizing AKT (Mearow et al., 2002). This triggers a series of survival-promoting and anti-apoptotic signaling (Bellier et al., 2020). Besides, AKT-activation itself affects glucose consumption by triggering the uptake, creating a self-sustaining vicious cycle between the glycolytic phenotype and apoptotic evasion mediated by HSPs (Elstrom et al., 2004).

The concrete link between the mechanisms, the glycolytic phenotype and the upregulation of the stress response system, however, remains largely unexplored. To elucidate a possible interdependence of these two cancerpromoting mechanisms, this study focused on the effects that inhibition of the crucial glycolytic enzyme LDH might have on HSP expression.

The main consequence of reduced lactate levels due to LDH interference was reflected in the decrease of Hsp27, 70 and 90 levels, resulting in an impaired stress response system. Decreased intracellular amounts could be detected in GNE-140-treated groups and the *LDHA/B* double knockout cell line, which displayed even lower levels (Figure 7). Similar effects of HSP expression in genetically modified and inhibitor-treated cells largely exclude off-target effects. In addition, LDH inhibition via Oxamate showed comparable results in terms of reducing HSP (Manerba et al., 2017). Considering these results, it seems unlikely that the inhibitor directly interacts with HSP or undefined agents.

One possible mediator between the cellular metabolism and the stress response could be the transcription factor HSF1. Besides regulating the expression of many HSPs, it plays a crucial role in the glucose metabolism. (Dai et al., 2007) HSF1 was found to display a binding site for the *LDHA* promoter, leading to a subsequent reduction in its levels when the transcription factor was downregulated (Zhao et al., 2009). Consistent with these findings, Schwab et al. (2021) detected a reduction of HSF1 in *LDHA/B* double knockout cells, where HSP levels were lower compared to the WT.

The correlation between HSF1 and LDH activity might also explain the differences in the HSP expression levels: Hsp27 and Hsp70, both of which

are known to be regulated by HSF1 (Calderwood et al., 2010), were decreased the most when LDH was inhibited (Figure 7). Hsp90 on the other hand has two isoforms: the constitutively expressed Hsp90 $\beta$  and the stress-inducible from Hsp90 $\alpha$ . The transcription of the latter is known to be mediated by HSF1. (Zuehlke et al., 2015) According to these assumptions, a decrease of HSF1 levels due to impaired LDH activity as demonstrated by Schwab et al. (2021) should have less impact on the total amounts of Hsp90 compared to the other HSPs investigated (Figure 7). This study confirmed that Hsp90 levels were least reduced in case of LDH inhibition or genetic depletion. Therefore, these findings suggest that HSF1 might function as a crucial mediator between the heat shock response and the metabolic reprogramming. However, further research is needed to better understand the underlying mechanism.

Another possible link between metabolic activity and HSP expression is indicated by the change in ROS, which accumulate during cell stress. ROS, in turn, leads to an upregulation of HSP as an attempt to compensate stress damage. (Driedonks et al., 2015) Enhanced aerobic glycolysis in WT cells hence results in ROS overproduction, which again correlates with high HSP levels (Li et al., 2016; Schwab et al., 2021). *LDHA/B* double knockout cells with less metabolic activity and lower HSP levels, on the other hand, displayed lower ROS production (Schwab et al., 2021).

The correlation between low metabolic activity, ROS levels and therefore less HSP synthesis could be explained by the metabolic shift from aerobic glycolysis back to OXPHOS, which takes place in *LDHA/B* double knockout cells and can be phenocopied by GNE-140 application. This change in the metabolic status was shown to be accompanied by a restricted *in vitro* growth. However, it does not lead to a complete suppression, contradicting the common assumption that the Warburg effect is indispensable. (Zdralevic et al., 2018)

Similar results were obtained by Schwab et al. (2021), who demonstrated that LDH depletion leads to reduced proliferative activity. *In vivo* growth could not be halted but was reduced in its rate. This suggests that although the glycolytic phenotype provides a definite growth advantage, the metabolic shift is sufficient to sustain growth. In case of additional OXPHOS inhibition via phenformin, a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor, complete eradication could be achieved. (Zdralevic et al., 2018) Dual metabolic targeting should therefore be considered regarding future therapeutic approaches.

As opposed to normal cells, Hsp70 is not only found in the cytosol but also on the plasma membrane of cancer cells (Multhoff et al., 1995). In this study, flow cytometry analysis revealed that the membrane expression of Hsp70 was similarly affected by LDH inhibition (Figure 3). *LDHA/B* double knockout cells carried the lowest Hsp70 membrane density followed by the ones treated with GNE-140. Similar results were observed using Oxamate as an LDH inhibitor (Schwab et al., 2021). Moreover, these effects on HSP expression could be reproduced in cells cultured in lowglucose medium, which impairs the glycolytic activity and therefore mimics LDH inhibition. Higher glucose intake hence leads to increased mHsp70. (Li et al., 2016; Schwab et al., 2021)

As mentioned before, mHsp70 is known to colocalize with Gb3, functioning as an anchor to the plasma membrane (Gehrmann et al., 2008). A decrease in mHsp70 was found to be associated with less Gb3. This could be explained by the major differences found in the cellular proteomes between WT and *LDHA/B* double knockout cells, especially with regard to proteins that participate in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. This might explain the differences in Gb3 expression and thus the lower capacity to

70

anchor mHsp70. Once again, this indicates a connection between the metabolic changes and HSP expression. (Schwab et al., 2021)

An important mechanism by which cells compensate for and react to potentially lethal damage caused by physical and chemical stress factors is the heat shock response system. HSPs participate in antiapoptotic pathways (Garrido et al., 2006) and exhibit cytoprotective properties, e.g., protein-refolding (Hahn et al., 2004) both of which promote resistance to cell death. Whereas in normal cells this is part of the damage-control system, in cancer it serves as one of the causes for therapy resistance (Sottile & Nadin, 2018). Tumor cells with high expression of mHsp70, for instance, were demonstrated to be less radiosensitive compared to sublines with lower membrane density (Murakami et al., 2015).

This study has demonstrated that cells with impaired lactate-metabolism became more radiosensitive either by GNE-140 application or genetic disruption (Figure 11a,b). Irradiation with a low dose of 2 Gy showed a significant reduction in the reproductive capacities, reflected by a decrease in the surviving fractions compared to the wildtype which was even more pronounced in the *LDHA/B* double knockout cell line. Higher irradiation doses of 4 or 6 Gy only showed a trend towards increased radiosensitivity in cells with impaired lactate metabolism. This could indicate that doses above the 2 Gy threshold might override the effects of LDH inhibition due to their lethal properties. To elucidate this phenomenon, however, further investigations of radiation response in the lower dose range are required. The SER and decrease of D50 values were concomitant with previous studies where Oxamate-treated LS174T and B16F10 cells and *LDHA* and *B* double knockout lines were investigated (Schwab et al., 2021).

Following these results, LDH-mediated downregulation of mHsp70 has been proven to break radioresistance by impairing the lactate metabolism.

71

The latter should be borne in mind when evaluating future therapeutic approaches.

In summary, this study's findings support the hypothesis of a codependent relationship and suggest ways the Warburg effect could be linked to the heat shock response of cancer cells. Targeting both mechanisms bears great potential as a new approach complementing existing therapeutic regimes especially in CRC where HSPs have a decisive role in the development, sustainment, aggressiveness, and therapeutic burdens of the tumor (Lee et al., 2015a).

Besides dose-dependent toxicities and unfavorable pharmacokinetic properties (J.-C. Heinrich et al., 2011; Sanchez et al., 2020), therapeutic targeting of the HSP-axis, i.e., the inhibition of specific members, has not proven to be successful. This lack of efficiency due to compensatory upregulation of other HSP members (Goloudina et al., 2012) illustrates the need for a universal inhibitor or mediator, such as LDH inhibitors, to cover the broad spectrum and escape the redundant system.

In this study, GNE-140 was used as a pharmacologic agent to achieve LDH inhibition in CRC cells. While newer inhibitors have been reported, only few of them have been found to have cellular activity. Thus, LDHB usually remains unaffected since many inhibitors only modulate LDHA activity. (Boudreau et al., 2016) Given the fact that both subunits contribute to carcinogenesis, this is not favorable (McCleland et al., 2013). According to Boudreau et al. (2016), GNE-140 seemed to be a promising candidate targeting both, LDHA and B. Its efficacy has been demonstrated repeatedly not only in CRC cell lines (Zdralevic et al., 2018) but also in in pancreatic (Boudreau et al., 2016) and breast cancer (Mazzio et al., 2021). Contrary to the pyruvate analog Oxamate, which was the first inhibitor described, GNE-140 causes less side effects due to its potency and high specificity. Hence, lower concentrations are needed to sufficiently inhibit
the enzyme. The pharmacological efficacy of GNE-140 displays an enormous benefit compared to its predecessor Oxamate which has led to further evaluation of this substance. In vivo data, however, was less convincing. LDH inhibition could not be maintained for longer than one hour as the substance is rapidly cleared and modulates LDH activity only temporarily. (Boudreau et al., 2016) Zdralevic et al. (2018) confirmed that it cannot suppress growth in vivo. GNE-140 is therefore not suitable for in vivo use which severely limits its field of application. Clinical vivo implementation demands safe and effective in practice. Consequently, the research on agents with higher efficacy and more favorable biodistributive characteristics must be pursued.

A promising strategy appears to be the disruption of the enzyme's tetramerization. Novel peptide inhibitors are being designed to interfere with the protein-protein interaction of the subunits. Compared to the commonly used small molecules, which act as (non-)competitive inhibitors, the disruption of the assembly process represents a completely new approach. (Jafary et al., 2019; Nadal-Bufi et al., 2021) The use of peptides as anti-cancer drugs has several advantages, such as ease of synthesis, better tissue penetrability, lower toxicity (Craik et al., 2013) and higher specificity due to their larger site of action (Cunningham et al., 2017). Higher affinity on the other hand allows the use of lower dosages to achieve the same effects. A previously designed peptide, cGmC9, which impairs the LDH-5 association, showed high potency and even lower IC<sub>50</sub> values compared to GNE-140 (Nadal-Bufi et al., 2021). Nonetheless, this new group of inhibitors requires extensive in vivo studies before clinical implementation. The investigation of more potential inhibitors continues (Christov et al., 2021; Laganá et al., 2019; Nadal-Bufi et al., 2021; Rai et al., 2017).

#### 8 Conclusion

The glycolytic phenotype of tumors such as CRC is accompanied by changes in the stress response system. Besides the accumulation of immunosuppressive lactate (Brand et al., 2016; Fischer et al., 2007), the metabolic change also leads to an upregulation of HSPs. Both mechanisms - the adaptive metabolism and the heat shock response promote tumorigenicity via direct or indirect cellular mechanisms (Gabai et al., 2005; Sherman et al., 2011) and therefore burden conventional therapeutic regimes (Nadin et al., 2007; Sattler, Meyer, et al., 2010). Hsp90, 70 and 27 are correlated with increased therapy resistance, higher invasiveness, and consequently poor survival in CRC (Kocsis et al., 2011; Milicevic et al., 2008; Tweedle et al., 2010). The available preclinical data demonstrates the role of HSP in anti-apoptotic signaling cascades in CRC, promoting tumorigenicity and mediating chemo- and radioresistance (Abi Zamer et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2015a; Lopez-Camarillo & Arechaga-Ocampo, 2015). Given the scientific evidence, the potential of HSP as a therapeutic target now demands proper investigation in clinical trials.

This study demonstrated that LDH inhibition via GNE-140 leads to decreased HSP expression which in turn increases radiosensitivity in colorectal adenocarcinoma cells. Pharmacological inhibition of LDH represents a promising therapeutic approach, since it inflicts the metabolism and the stress response system. Thus, it provides the opportunity to affect the HSP axis on a large scale by suppressing the synthesis of numerous members. Since targeting single HSPs has not proven to be successful, this might be an approach to circumvent compensatory upregulation (Goloudina et al., 2012).

Particularly entities such as CRC with rising epidemiological significance (Ferlay et al., 2020) and exhausted therapeutic regimes (Abi Zamer et al., 2021; Manfredi et al., 2006) would profit from such a targeted strategy.

74

Once again, this stresses the need to drive forward research into LDH inhibitors suitable for clinical application to set a milestone in the fight against cancer.

# 9 List of figures and tables

# 9.1 List of figures

Figure 1. Effects of LDH inhibition via GNE-140 treatment and double genetic
disruption of LDH A and B7
Figure 2. Conversion of pyruvate to lactate catalyzed by LDH
Figure 3. Chemical structure of GNE-140
Figure 4. Illustration of a semi-dry Western Blot set-up54
Figure 5. Lactate dehydrogenase activity in LS174T cells
Figure 6. Representative immunoblot showing the intracellular levels of Hsp90, Hsp70,
Hsp27 in LS174T wildtype and LDH-double-knockout cells58
Figure 7 Representative Dotplots of the untreated wildtype population after antibody
staining60
Figure 8. Representative histograms of the untreated wildtype population61
Figure 9. Representative histograms comparing the HSP70 membrane expression of
the wildtype and knockout cell groups62
Figure 10. HSP70 membrane expression in different cell populations63
Figure 11. Survival fractions of the subpopulation dependent on irradiation dose67

### 9.2 List of tables

Table 1. Staging classification of colorectal cancer	12
Table 2. List of chemicals and reagents	39
Table 3. List of cell culture media, supplements and tissue culture flasks	40
Table 4. List of buffers	41
Table 5. List of molecular biology kits.	42
Table 6. List of antibodies.	43
Table 7. List of cell lines.	43
Table 8. List of instruments and devices.	45
Table 9. List of software.	45
Table 10. Alpha and beta values for wildtype and knockout cell lines according to t	he
linear quadratic model	63
Table 11. D <sub>50</sub> values for wildtype and knockout cell lines.	64

#### **10 Literature**

- Abi Zamer, B., El-Huneidi, W., Eladl, M. A., & Muhammad, J. S. (2021). Ins and Outs of Heat Shock Proteins in Colorectal Carcinoma: Its Role in Carcinogenesis and Therapeutic Perspectives. *Cells*, *10*(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10112862</u>
- Agarwal, M., Pandita, S., Hunt, C. R., Gupta, A., Yue, X., Khan, S., Pandita, R. K., Pratt, D., Shay, J. W., Taylor, J. S., & Pandita, T. K. (2008). Inhibition of telomerase activity enhances hyperthermia-mediated radiosensitization. *Cancer Res*, 68(9), 3370-3378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-07-5831</u>
- Aghdassi, A., Phillips, P., Dudeja, V., Dhaulakhandi, D., Sharif, R., Dawra, R., Lerch, M. M., & Saluja, A. (2007). Heat shock protein 70 increases tumorigenicity and inhibits apoptosis in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 67(2), 616-625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-06-1567</u>
- Albakova, Z., Siam, M. K. S., Sacitharan, P. K., Ziganshin, R. H., Ryazantsev, D. Y., & Sapozhnikov, A. M. (2021). Extracellular heat shock proteins and cancer: New perspectives. *Translational Oncology*, 14(2), 100995. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2020.100995</u>
- Aldrich, S.-. (2018). Product information. Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity Assay Kit.
- Aloy, M. T., Hadchity, E., Bionda, C., Diaz-Latoud, C., Claude, L., Rousson, R., Arrigo, A. P., & Rodriguez-Lafrasse, C. (2008). Protective role of Hsp27 protein against gamma radiation-induced apoptosis and radiosensitization effects of Hsp27 gene silencing in different human tumor cells. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 70(2), 543-553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.08.061</u>
- American Cancer Society. (2024). *Colorectal Cancer Stages*. Retrieved June 28, 2024 from <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/types/colon-rectal-cancer/detection-</u> <u>diagnosis-staging/staged.html</u>
- Apel, A., Zentgraf, H., Büchler, M. W., & Herr, I. (2009). Autophagy-A double-edged sword in oncology. Int J Cancer, 125(5), 991-995. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.24500</u>
- Arrigo, A.-P., Paul, C., Ducasse, C., Manero, F., Kretz-Remy, C., Virot, S., Javouhey, E., Mounier, N., & Diaz-Latoud, C. (2002). Small stress proteins: novel negative modulators of apoptosis induced independently of reactive oxygen species. *Small stress proteins*, 185-204.
- Arrigo, A. P. (2000). sHsp as novel regulators of programmed cell death and tumorigenicity. *Pathol Biol (Paris)*, *48*(3), 280-288.
- Augoff, K., Hryniewicz-Jankowska, A., & Tabola, R. (2015). Lactate dehydrogenase 5: an old friend and a new hope in the war on cancer. *Cancer Lett*, 358(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2014.12.035</u>
- Bauer, K., Nitsche, U., Slotta-Huspenina, J., Drecoll, E., von Weyhern, C. H., Rosenberg, R., Höfler, H., & Langer, R. (2012). High HSP27 and HSP70 expression levels are independent adverse prognostic factors in primary resected colon cancer. *Cell Oncol (Dordr)*, 35(3), 197-205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13402-012-0079-3</u>
- Bayer, C., Liebhardt, M. E., Schmid, T. E., Trajkovic-Arsic, M., Hube, K., Specht, H. M., Schilling, D., Gehrmann, M., Stangl, S., Siveke, J. T., Wilkens, J. J., & Multhoff, G. (2014). Validation of heat shock protein 70 as a tumor-specific biomarker for monitoring the outcome of radiation therapy in tumor mouse models. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 88(3), 694-700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.11.008
- Beere, H. M., Wolf, B. B., Cain, K., Mosser, D. D., Mahboubi, A., Kuwana, T., Tailor, P., Morimoto, R. I., Cohen, G. M., & Green, D. R. (2000). Heat-shock protein 70

inhibits apoptosis by preventing recruitment of procaspase-9 to the Apaf-1 apoptosome. *Nat Cell Biol*, 2(8), 469-475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35019501</u>

- Bellier, J., Nokin, M.-J., Caprasse, M., Tiamiou, A., Blomme, A., Scheijen, J. L., Koopmansch, B., MacKay, G. M., Chiavarina, B., Costanza, B., Rademaker, G., Durieux, F., Agirman, F., Maloujahmoum, N., Cusumano, P. G., Lovinfosse, P., Leung, H. Y., Lambert, F., Bours, V., Schalkwijk, C. G., Hustinx, R., Peulen, O., Castronovo, V., & Bellahcène, A. (2020). Methylglyoxal Scavengers Resensitize KRAS-Mutated Colorectal Tumors to Cetuximab. *Cell Reports*, *30*(5), 1400-1416.e1406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.01.012
- Bettington, M., Walker, N., Clouston, A., Brown, I., Leggett, B., & Whitehall, V. (2013). The serrated pathway to colorectal carcinoma: current concepts and challenges. *Histopathology*, 62(3), 367-386. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/his.12055
- Billiard, J., Dennison, J. B., Briand, J., Annan, R. S., Chai, D., Colón, M., Dodson, C. S., Gilbert, S. A., Greshock, J., Jing, J., Lu, H., McSurdy-Freed, J. E., Orband-Miller, L. A., Mills, G. B., Quinn, C. J., Schneck, J. L., Scott, G. F., Shaw, A. N., Waitt, G. M., Wooster, R. F., & Duffy, K. J. (2013). Quinoline 3-sulfonamides inhibit lactate dehydrogenase A and reverse aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. *Cancer Metab*, *1*(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-3002-1-19
- Binder, R. J. (2008). Heat-shock protein-based vaccines for cancer and infectious disease. *Expert Rev Vaccines*, 7(3), 383-393. https://doi.org/10.1586/14760584.7.3.383
- Blasco, M. A. (2005). Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer and beyond. *Nat Rev Genet*, 6(8), 611-622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1656</u>
- Boudreau, A., Purkey, H. E., Hitz, A., Robarge, K., Peterson, D., Labadie, S., Kwong, M., Hong, R., Gao, M., Del Nagro, C., Pusapati, R., Ma, S., Salphati, L., Pang, J., Zhou, A., Lai, T., Li, Y., Chen, Z., Wei, B., Yen, I., Sideris, S., McCleland, M., Firestein, R., Corson, L., Vanderbilt, A., Williams, S., Daemen, A., Belvin, M., Eigenbrot, C., Jackson, P. K., Malek, S., Hatzivassiliou, G., Sampath, D., Evangelista, M., & O'Brien, T. (2016). Metabolic plasticity underpins innate and acquired resistance to LDHA inhibition. *Nat Chem Biol*, *12*(10), 779-786. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2143
- Brahimi-Horn, M. C., Bellot, G., & Pouysségur, J. (2011). Hypoxia and energetic tumour metabolism. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 21(1), 67-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2010.10.006
- Brand, A., Singer, K., Koehl, G. E., Kolitzus, M., Schoenhammer, G., Thiel, A., Matos, C., Bruss, C., Klobuch, S., Peter, K., Kastenberger, M., Bogdan, C., Schleicher, U., Mackensen, A., Ullrich, E., Fichtner-Feigl, S., Kesselring, R., Mack, M., Ritter, U., Schmid, M., Blank, C., Dettmer, K., Oefner, P. J., Hoffmann, P., Walenta, S., Geissler, E. K., Pouyssegur, J., Villunger, A., Steven, A., Seliger, B., Schreml, S., Haferkamp, S., Kohl, E., Karrer, S., Berneburg, M., Herr, W., Mueller-Klieser, W., Renner, K., & Kreutz, M. (2016). LDHA-Associated Lactic Acid Production Blunts Tumor Immunosurveillance by T and NK Cells. *Cell Metab*, *24*(5), 657-671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.011
- Brenner, H., Kloor, M., & Pox, C. P. (2014). Colorectal cancer. *The Lancet*, 383(9927), 1490-1502. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61649-9</u>
- Britten, C. D., Rowinsky, E. K., Baker, S. D., Weiss, G. R., Smith, L., Stephenson, J., Rothenberg, M., Smetzer, L., Cramer, J., Collins, W., Von Hoff, D. D., & Eckhardt, S. G. (2000). A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of the mitochondrial-specific rhodacyanine dye analog MKT 077. *Clin Cancer Res*, 6(1), 42-49.

Brody, H. (2015). Colorectal cancer. *Nature*, 521(7551), S1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/521S1a</u>

- Buchner, J. (1999). Hsp90 & Co. a holding for folding. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 24(4), 136-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0968-0004(99)01373-0</u>
- Bustany, S., Cahu, J., Descamps, G., Pellat-Deceunynck, C., & Sola, B. (2015). Heat shock factor 1 is a potent therapeutic target for enhancing the efficacy of treatments for multiple myeloma with adverse prognosis. *J Hematol Oncol*, 8, 40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-015-0135-3</u>
- Calderwood, S. K., Khaleque, M. A., Sawyer, D. B., & Ciocca, D. R. (2006). Heat shock proteins in cancer: chaperones of tumorigenesis. *Trends Biochem Sci*, *31*(3), 164-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2006.01.006</u>
- Calderwood, S. K., Xie, Y., Wang, X., Khaleque, M. A., Chou, S. D., Murshid, A., Prince, T., & Zhang, Y. (2010). Signal Transduction Pathways Leading to Heat Shock Transcription. *Sign Transduct Insights*, 2, 13-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.4137/sti.S3994</u>
- Carethers, J. M., & Jung, B. H. (2015). Genetics and Genetic Biomarkers in Sporadic Colorectal Cancer. *Gastroenterology*, *149*(5), 1177-1190.e1173. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2015.06.047</u>
- Chang, Y. J., Chen, W. Y., Huang, C. Y., Liu, H. H., & Wei, P. L. (2015). Glucoseregulated protein 78 (GRP78) regulates colon cancer metastasis through EMT biomarkers and the NRF-2/HO-1 pathway. *Tumour Biol*, *36*(3), 1859-1869. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-014-2788-x</u>
- Chatterjee, S., & Burns, T. F. (2017). Targeting Heat Shock Proteins in Cancer: A Promising Therapeutic Approach. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *18*(9), 1978. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/18/9/1978</u>
- Chen, W. S., Lee, C. C., Hsu, Y. M., Chen, C. C., & Huang, T. S. (2011). Identification of heat shock protein 90α as an IMH-2 epitope-associated protein and correlation of its mRNA overexpression with colorectal cancer metastasis and poor prognosis. *Int J Colorectal Dis*, 26(8), 1009-1017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-011-1200-1</u>
- Cheng, C. S., Tan, H. Y., Wang, N., Chen, L., Meng, Z., Chen, Z., & Feng, Y. (2021). Functional inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase suppresses pancreatic adenocarcinoma progression. *Clin Transl Med*, 11(6), e467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ctm2.467</u>
- Christov, P. P., Kim, K., Jana, S., Romaine, I. M., Rai, G., Mott, B. T., Allweil, A. A., Lamers, A., Brimacombe, K. R., Urban, D. J., Lee, T. D., Hu, X., Lukacs, C. M., Davies, D. R., Jadhav, A., Hall, M. D., Green, N., Moore, W. J., Stott, G. M., Flint, A. J., Maloney, D. J., Sulikowski, G. A., & Waterson, A. G. (2021). Optimization of ether and aniline based inhibitors of lactate dehydrogenase. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, *41*, 127974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2021.127974
- Ciocca, D. R., Arrigo, A. P., & Calderwood, S. K. (2013). Heat shock proteins and heat shock factor 1 in carcinogenesis and tumor development: an update. *Archives of Toxicology*, 87(1), 19-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-012-0918-z</u>
- Ciocca, D. R., & Calderwood, S. K. (2005). Heat shock proteins in cancer: diagnostic, prognostic, predictive, and treatment implications. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, *10*(2), 86-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1379/csc-99r.1</u>
- Ciocca, D. R., Clark, G. M., Tandon, A. K., Fuqua, S. A., Welch, W. J., & McGuire, W. L. (1993). Heat shock protein hsp70 in patients with axillary lymph nodenegative breast cancer: prognostic implications. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 85(7), 570-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/85.7.570</u>

- Ciocca, D. R., Fanelli, M. A., Cuello-Carrion, F. D., & Castro, G. N. (2010). Heat shock proteins in prostate cancer: from tumorigenesis to the clinic. *Int J Hyperthermia*, 26(8), 737-747. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/02656731003776968</u>
- Ciocca, D. R., Oesterreich, S., Chamness, G. C., McGuire, W. L., & Fuqua, S. A. (1993). Biological and clinical implications of heat shock protein 27,000 (Hsp27): a review. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 85(19), 1558-1570. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/85.19.1558
- Clinton, S. K., Giovannucci, E. L., & Hursting, S. D. (2020). The World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research Third Expert Report on Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Cancer: Impact and Future Directions. J Nutr, 150(4), 663-671. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxz268</u>
- Coffelt, S. B., Lewis, C. E., Naldini, L., Brown, J. M., Ferrara, N., & De Palma, M. (2010). Elusive identities and overlapping phenotypes of proangiogenic myeloid cells in tumors. *Am J Pathol*, *176*(4), 1564-1576. <u>https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2010.090786</u>
- Colotta, F., Allavena, P., Sica, A., Garlanda, C., & Mantovani, A. (2009). Cancerrelated inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability. *Carcinogenesis*, *30*(7), 1073-1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgp127</u>
- Craig, E. A. (1985). The heat shock response. *CRC Crit Rev Biochem*, *18*(3), 239-280. https://doi.org/10.3109/10409238509085135
- Craik, D. J., Fairlie, D. P., Liras, S., & Price, D. (2013). The future of peptide-based drugs. *Chem Biol Drug Des*, *81*(1), 136-147. https://doi.org/10.1111/cbdd.12055
- Cunningham, A. D., Qvit, N., & Mochly-Rosen, D. (2017). Peptides and peptidomimetics as regulators of protein-protein interactions. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, *44*, 59-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2016.12.009</u>
- Dai, C., Whitesell, L., Rogers, A. B., & Lindquist, S. (2007). Heat Shock Factor 1 Is a Powerful Multifaceted Modifier of Carcinogenesis. *Cell*, *130*(6), 1005-1018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.020</u>
- Dalle-Donne, I., Rossi, R., Milzani, A., Di Simplicio, P., & Colombo, R. (2001). The actin cytoskeleton response to oxidants: from small heat shock protein phosphorylation to changes in the redox state of actin itself. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 31(12), 1624-1632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(01)00749-3</u>
- Davies, M. A., & Samuels, Y. (2010). Analysis of the genome to personalize therapy for melanoma. *Oncogene*, 29(41), 5545-5555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.323</u>
- DeBerardinis, R. J., Lum, J. J., Hatzivassiliou, G., & Thompson, C. B. (2008). The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation. *Cell Metab*, 7(1), 11-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2007.10.002</u>
- Dragovich, P. S., Fauber, B. P., Corson, L. B., Ding, C. Z., Eigenbrot, C., Ge, H., Giannetti, A. M., Hunsaker, T., Labadie, S., Liu, Y., Malek, S., Pan, B., Peterson, D., Pitts, K., Purkey, H. E., Sideris, S., Ultsch, M., VanderPorten, E., Wei, B., Xu, Q., Yen, I., Yue, Q., Zhang, H., & Zhang, X. (2013). Identification of substituted 2-thio-6-oxo-1,6-dihydropyrimidines as inhibitors of human lactate dehydrogenase. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 23(11), 3186-3194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2013.04.001
- Driedonks, N., Xu, J., Peters, J. L., Park, S., & Rieu, I. (2015). Multi-Level Interactions Between Heat Shock Factors, Heat Shock Proteins, and the Redox System Regulate Acclimation to Heat [Review]. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *6*(999). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00999</u>

- Du, S., Liu, Y., Yuan, Y., Wang, Y., Chen, Y., Wang, S., & Chi, Y. (2022). Advances in the study of HSP70 inhibitors to enhance the sensitivity of tumor cells to radiotherapy. *Front Cell Dev Biol*, 10, 942828. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2022.942828
- Egeblad, M., Nakasone, E. S., & Werb, Z. (2010). Tumors as organs: complex tissues that interface with the entire organism. *Dev Cell*, *18*(6), 884-901. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2010.05.012</u>
- Eguchi, T., Lang, B. J., Murshid, A., Prince, T., Gong, J., & Calderwood, S. K. (2018). Regulatory roles for Hsp70 in cancer incidence and tumor progression. *Frontiers in Structural Biology; Galigniana, MD, Ed.; Bentham Science: Sharjah, UAE, 1,* 1-22.
- Ellis, R., Henderson, B., & Pockley, A. (2005). Molecular chaperones: the orthodox view. *Molecular Chaperones and Cell Signalling*, 3-21.
- Ellis, R. J. (2006). Molecular chaperones: assisting assembly in addition to folding. *Trends Biochem Sci*, *31*(7), 395-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2006.05.001</u>
- Ellis, R. J., & Hemmingsen, S. M. (1989). Molecular chaperones: proteins essential for the biogenesis of some macromolecular structures. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 14(8), 339-342. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0968-00004(89)90168-0</u>
- Elstrom, R. L., Bauer, D. E., Buzzai, M., Karnauskas, R., Harris, M. H., Plas, D. R., Zhuang, H., Cinalli, R. M., Alavi, A., Rudin, C. M., & Thompson, C. B. (2004). Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. *Cancer Res*, 64(11), 3892-3899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-03-2904</u>
- Farabegoli, F., Vettraino, M., Manerba, M., Fiume, L., Roberti, M., & Di Stefano, G. (2012). Galloflavin, a new lactate dehydrogenase inhibitor, induces the death of human breast cancer cells with different glycolytic attitude by affecting distinct signaling pathways. *Eur J Pharm Sci*, 47(4), 729-738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2012.08.012
- Fauber, B. P., Dragovich, P. S., Chen, J., Corson, L. B., Ding, C. Z., Eigenbrot, C., Giannetti, A. M., Hunsaker, T., Labadie, S., Liu, Y., Liu, Y., Malek, S., Peterson, D., Pitts, K., Sideris, S., Ultsch, M., VanderPorten, E., Wang, J., Wei, B., Yen, I., & Yue, Q. (2013). Identification of 2-amino-5-aryl-pyrazines as inhibitors of human lactate dehydrogenase. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 23(20), 5533-5539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2013.08.060</u>
- Fearon, E. R., & Vogelstein, B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell*, 61(5), 759-767. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-</u> <u>8674(90)90186-I</u>
- Ferlay, J., Laversanne, M., Ervik, M., Lam, F., Colombet, M., Mery, L., Piñeros, M., Znaor, A., Soerjomataram, I., & Bray, F. (2020). *Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Tomorrow*. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Retrieved April 3, 2021 from <u>https://gco.iarc.fr/tomorrow</u>
- Feron, O. (2009). Pyruvate into lactate and back: from the Warburg effect to symbiotic energy fuel exchange in cancer cells. *Radiother Oncol*, *92*(3), 329-333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2009.06.025</u>
- Fidler, I. J. (2003). The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *3*(6), 453-458. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1098
- Fischer, K., Hoffmann, P., Voelkl, S., Meidenbauer, N., Ammer, J., Edinger, M., Gottfried, E., Schwarz, S., Rothe, G., Hoves, S., Renner, K., Timischl, B., Mackensen, A., Kunz-Schughart, L., Andreesen, R., Krause, S. W., & Kreutz,

M. (2007). Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. *Blood*, *109*(9), 3812-3819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-07-035972</u>

- Fourie, A. M., Hupp, T. R., Lane, D. P., Sang, B. C., Barbosa, M. S., Sambrook, J. F., & Gething, M. J. (1997). HSP70 binding sites in the tumor suppressor protein p53. *J Biol Chem*, 272(31), 19471-19479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.31.19471</u>
- Franken, N. A. P., Rodermond, H. M., Stap, J., Haveman, J., & van Bree, C. (2006). Clonogenic assay of cells in vitro. *Nature Protocols*, 1(5), 2315-2319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.339</u>
- Fu, R., Yang, P., Wu, H. L., Li, Z. W., & Li, Z. Y. (2014). GRP78 secreted by colon cancer cells facilitates cell proliferation via PI3K/Akt signaling. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 15(17), 7245-7249. https://doi.org/10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.17.7245
- Fulda, S., Galluzzi, L., & Kroemer, G. (2010). Targeting mitochondria for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 9(6), 447-464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3137</u>
- Fuller, K. J., Issels, R. D., Slosman, D. O., Guillet, J. G., Soussi, T., & Polla, B. S. (1994). Cancer and the heat shock response. *Eur J Cancer*, 30a(12), 1884-1891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-8049(94)00362-9</u>
- Gabai, V. L., Budagova, K. R., & Sherman, M. Y. (2005). Increased expression of the major heat shock protein Hsp72 in human prostate carcinoma cells is dispensable for their viability but confers resistance to a variety of anticancer agents. Oncogene, 24(20), 3328-3338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1208495</u>
- Garrido, C., Brunet, M., Didelot, C., Zermati, Y., Schmitt, E., & Kroemer, G. (2006). Heat shock proteins 27 and 70: anti-apoptotic proteins with tumorigenic properties. *Cell Cycle*, *5*(22), 2592-2601. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.5.22.3448</u>
- Gartner, E. M., Silverman, P., Simon, M., Flaherty, L., Abrams, J., Ivy, P., & Lorusso, P. M. (2012). A phase II study of 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin in metastatic or locally advanced, unresectable breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 131(3), 933-937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1866-7</u>
- Gastpar, R., Gehrmann, M., Bausero, M. A., Asea, A., Gross, C., Schroeder, J. A., & Multhoff, G. (2005). Heat shock protein 70 surface-positive tumor exosomes stimulate migratory and cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. *Cancer Res*, 65(12), 5238-5247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-04-3804</u>
- Ge, H., Yan, Y., Guo, L., Tian, F., & Wu, D. (2018). Prognostic role of HSPs in human gastrointestinal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Onco Targets Ther*, *11*, 351-359. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/ott.S155816</u>
- Gehrmann, M., Cervello, M., Montalto, G., Cappello, F., Gulino, A., Knape, C., Specht, H. M., & Multhoff, G. (2014). Heat shock protein 70 serum levels differ significantly in patients with chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Front Immunol*, *5*, 307. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00307</u>
- Gehrmann, M., Liebisch, G., Schmitz, G., Anderson, R., Steinem, C., De Maio, A., Pockley, G., & Multhoff, G. (2008). Tumor-specific Hsp70 plasma membrane localization is enabled by the glycosphingolipid Gb3. *PLoS One*, *3*(4), e1925. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001925</u>
- Gibert, B., Eckel, B., Fasquelle, L., Moulin, M., Bouhallier, F., Gonin, V., Mellier, G., Simon, S., Kretz-Remy, C., Arrigo, A. P., & Diaz-Latoud, C. (2012). Knock down of heat shock protein 27 (HspB1) induces degradation of several putative client proteins. *PLoS One*, 7(1), e29719. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029719</u>
- Gibert, B., Hadchity, E., Czekalla, A., Aloy, M. T., Colas, P., Rodriguez-Lafrasse, C., Arrigo, A. P., & Diaz-Latoud, C. (2011). Inhibition of heat shock protein 27

(HspB1) tumorigenic functions by peptide aptamers. *Oncogene*, *30*(34), 3672-3681. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.73</u>

- Goldman, A., Ursitti, J. A., Mozdzanowski, J., & Speicher, D. W. (2015). Electroblotting from Polyacrylamide Gels. *Curr Protoc Protein Sci*, *82*, 10.17.11-10.17.16. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471140864.ps1007s82
- Goloudina, A. R., Demidov, O. N., & Garrido, C. (2012). Inhibition of HSP70: a challenging anti-cancer strategy. *Cancer Lett*, 325(2), 117-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.06.003
- Granchi, C., Roy, S., Giacomelli, C., Macchia, M., Tuccinardi, T., Martinelli, A., Lanza, M., Betti, L., Giannaccini, G., Lucacchini, A., Funel, N., León, L. G., Giovannetti, E., Peters, G. J., Palchaudhuri, R., Calvaresi, E. C., Hergenrother, P. J., & Minutolo, F. (2011). Discovery of N-hydroxyindole-based inhibitors of human lactate dehydrogenase isoform A (LDH-A) as starvation agents against cancer cells. *J Med Chem*, *54*(6), 1599-1612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jm101007q</u>
- Grivennikov, S. I., Greten, F. R., & Karin, M. (2010). Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. *Cell*, *140*(6), 883-899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025</u>
- Guan, J.-Y., Liao, T.-T., Yu, C.-L., Luo, H.-Y., Yang, W.-R., & Wang, X.-Z. (2018). ERK1/2 regulates heat stress-induced lactate production via enhancing the expression of HSP70 in immature boar Sertoli cells. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, 23(6), 1193-1204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-018-0925-y</u>
- Gunaldi, M., Kocoglu, H., Okuturlar, Y., Gedikbasi, A., Karabulut, M., Alis, H., & Hursitoglu, M. (2015). Heat shock protein 70 is a useful marker for predicting colorectal cancer. *J buon*, *20*(6), 1464-1470.
- Hadchity, E., Aloy, M. T., Paulin, C., Armandy, E., Watkin, E., Rousson, R., Gleave, M., Chapet, O., & Rodriguez-Lafrasse, C. (2009). Heat shock protein 27 as a new therapeutic target for radiation sensitization of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Mol Ther*, *17*(8), 1387-1394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2009.90</u>
- Hahn, J. S., Hu, Z., Thiele, D. J., & Iyer, V. R. (2004). Genome-wide analysis of the biology of stress responses through heat shock transcription factor. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(12), 5249-5256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.24.12.5249-5256.2004</u>
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*, *100*(1), 57-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81683-9</u>
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, Robert A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell*, 144(5), 646-674. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hardee, M. E., Dewhirst, M. W., Agarwal, N., & Sorg, B. S. (2009). Novel imaging provides new insights into mechanisms of oxygen transport in tumors. *Curr Mol Med*, 9(4), 435-441. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/156652409788167122</u>
- Hartl, F. U. (1996). Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. *Nature*, *381*(6583), 571-579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/381571a0</u>
- He, S., Smith, D. L., Sequeira, M., Sang, J., Bates, R. C., & Proia, D. A. (2014). The HSP90 inhibitor ganetespib has chemosensitizer and radiosensitizer activity in colorectal cancer. *Invest New Drugs*, 32(4), 577-586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-014-0095-4</u>
- Heinrich, J.-C., Tuukkanen, A., Schroeder, M., Fahrig, T., & Fahrig, R. (2011). RP101 (brivudine) binds to heat shock protein HSP27 (HSPB1) and enhances survival in animals and pancreatic cancer patients. *Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology*, 137(9), 1349-1361.
- Heinrich, J. C., Tuukkanen, A., Schroeder, M., Fahrig, T., & Fahrig, R. (2011). RP101 (brivudine) binds to heat shock protein HSP27 (HSPB1) and enhances survival

in animals and pancreatic cancer patients. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 137(9), 1349-1361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-011-1005-1</u>

- Hirschhaeuser, F., Sattler, U. G., & Mueller-Klieser, W. (2011). Lactate: a metabolic key player in cancer. *Cancer Res*, 71(22), 6921-6925. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-11-1457
- Holmes, D. (2015). A disease of growth. *Nature*, 521(7551), S2-S3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/521S2a</u>
- Hrudka, J., Jelínková, K., Fišerová, H., Matěj, R., Mandys, V., & Waldauf, P. (2021). Heat Shock Proteins 27, 70, and 110: Expression and Prognostic Significance in Colorectal Cancer. *Cancers (Basel)*, 13(17). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13174407</u>
- Hsu, P. P., & Sabatini, D. M. (2008). Cancer cell metabolism: Warburg and beyond. *Cell*, 134(5), 703-707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.08.021</u>
- Hunt, C. R., Dix, D. J., Sharma, G. G., Pandita, R. K., Gupta, A., Funk, M., & Pandita, T. K. (2004). Genomic instability and enhanced radiosensitivity in Hsp70.1- and Hsp70.3-deficient mice. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(2), 899-911. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.24.2.899-911.2004</u>
- Ionov, Y., Peinado, M. A., Malkhosyan, S., Shibata, D., & Perucho, M. (1993). Ubiquitous somatic mutations in simple repeated sequences reveal a new mechanism for colonic carcinogenesis. *Nature*, 363(6429), 558-561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/363558a0</u>
- Islami, F., Goding Sauer, A., Miller, K. D., Siegel, R. L., Fedewa, S. A., Jacobs, E. J., McCullough, M. L., Patel, A. V., Ma, J., & Soerjomataram, I. (2018). Proportion and number of cancer cases and deaths attributable to potentially modifiable risk factors in the United States. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 68(1), 31-54.
- Jafary, F., Ganjalikhany, M. R., Moradi, A., Hemati, M., & Jafari, S. (2019). Novel Peptide Inhibitors for Lactate Dehydrogenase A (LDHA): A Survey to Inhibit LDHA Activity via Disruption of Protein-Protein Interaction. *Sci Rep*, 9(1), 4686. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-38854-7</u>
- Jiang, B. H., & Liu, L. Z. (2009). PI3K/PTEN signaling in angiogenesis and tumorigenesis. *Adv Cancer Res*, *102*, 19-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-230x(09)02002-8</u>
- Jones, R. G., & Thompson, C. B. (2009). Tumor suppressors and cell metabolism: a recipe for cancer growth. *Genes Dev*, 23(5), 537-548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1756509</u>
- Kampinga, H. H., Hageman, J., Vos, M. J., Kubota, H., Tanguay, R. M., Bruford, E. A., Cheetham, M. E., Chen, B., & Hightower, L. E. (2009). Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, *14*(1), 105-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0068-7</u>
- Kang, S. H., Kang, K. W., Kim, K. H., Kwon, B., Kim, S. K., Lee, H. Y., Kong, S. Y., Lee, E. S., Jang, S. G., & Yoo, B. C. (2008). Upregulated HSP27 in human breast cancer cells reduces Herceptin susceptibility by increasing Her2 protein stability. *BMC Cancer*, 8, 286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-8-286</u>
- Katoh, M., Koninkx, J., & Schumacher, U. (2000). Heat shock protein expression in human tumours grown in severe combined immunodeficient mice. *Cancer Lett*, 161(1), 113-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3835(00)00601-7</u>
- Kim, E. Y., Chung, T. W., Han, C. W., Park, S. Y., Park, K. H., Jang, S. B., & Ha, K. T. (2019). A Novel Lactate Dehydrogenase Inhibitor, 1-(Phenylseleno)-4-(Trifluoromethyl) Benzene, Suppresses Tumor Growth through Apoptotic Cell Death. *Sci Rep*, 9(1), 3969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40617-3</u>

- Klimczak, M., Biecek, P., Zylicz, A., & Zylicz, M. (2019). Heat shock proteins create a signature to predict the clinical outcome in breast cancer. *Sci Rep*, *9*(1), 7507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-43556-1</u>
- Ko, A. H., Murphy, P. B., Peyton, J. D., Shipley, D. L., Al-Hazzouri, A., Rodriguez, F. A., Womack IV, M. S., Xiong, H. Q., Waterhouse, D. M., & Tempero, M. A. (2017). A randomized, double-blinded, phase II trial of gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel plus apatorsen or placebo in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer: The RAINIER trial. *The oncologist*, *22*(12), 1427.
- Kocsis, J., Madaras, B., Tóth, E. K., Füst, G., & Prohászka, Z. (2010). Serum level of soluble 70-kD heat shock protein is associated with high mortality in patients with colorectal cancer without distant metastasis. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, 15(2), 143-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-009-0128-7</u>
- Kocsis, J., Mészáros, T., Madaras, B., Tóth, E. K., Kamondi, S., Gál, P., Varga, L., Prohászka, Z., & Füst, G. (2011). High levels of acute phase proteins and soluble 70 kDa heat shock proteins are independent and additive risk factors for mortality in colorectal cancer. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, *16*(1), 49-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-010-0220-z</u>
- Kondoh, H., Lleonart, M. E., Gil, J., Wang, J., Degan, P., Peters, G., Martinez, D., Carnero, A., & Beach, D. (2005). Glycolytic enzymes can modulate cellular life span. *Cancer Res*, 65(1), 177-185.
- Koukourakis, M. I., Giatromanolaki, A., Sivridis, E., Gatter, K. C., & Harris, A. L. (2006). Lactate dehydrogenase 5 expression in operable colorectal cancer: strong association with survival and activated vascular endothelial growth factor pathway--a report of the Tumour Angiogenesis Research Group. *J Clin Oncol*, 24(26), 4301-4308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2006.05.9501</u>
- Koukourakis, M. I., Giatromanolaki, A., Sivridis, E., Gatter, K. C., Trarbach, T., Folprecht, G., Shi, M. M., Lebwohl, D., Jalava, T., Laurent, D., Meinhardt, G., & Harris, A. L. (2011). Prognostic and predictive role of lactate dehydrogenase 5 expression in colorectal cancer patients treated with PTK787/ZK 222584 (vatalanib) antiangiogenic therapy. *Clin Cancer Res*, *17*(14), 4892-4900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-10-2918</u>
- Krause, S. W., Gastpar, R., Andreesen, R., Gross, C., Ullrich, H., Thonigs, G., Pfister, K., & Multhoff, G. (2004). Treatment of colon and lung cancer patients with ex vivo heat shock protein 70-peptide-activated, autologous natural killer cells: a clinical phase i trial. *Clin Cancer Res*, 10(11), 3699-3707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-03-0683</u>
- Krishnan, J., Suter, M., Windak, R., Krebs, T., Felley, A., Montessuit, C., Tokarska-Schlattner, M., Aasum, E., Bogdanova, A., & Perriard, E. (2009). Activation of a HIF1α-PPARγ axis underlies the integration of glycolytic and lipid anabolic pathways in pathologic cardiac hypertrophy. *Cell Metabolism*, 9(6), 512-524.
- Kroemer, G., & Pouyssegur, J. (2008). Tumor Cell Metabolism: Cancer's Achilles' Heel. *Cancer Cell*, *13*(6), 472-482. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2008.05.005
- Kryeziu, K., Bruun, J., Guren, T. K., Sveen, A., & Lothe, R. A. (2019). Combination therapies with HSP90 inhibitors against colorectal cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer*, 1871(2), 240-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2019.01.002</u>
- Kumar, S., Stokes, J., 3rd, Singh, U. P., Scissum Gunn, K., Acharya, A., Manne, U., & Mishra, M. (2016). Targeting Hsp70: A possible therapy for cancer. *Cancer Lett*, 374(1), 156-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2016.01.056</u>

- Laemmli, U. K. (1970). Cleavage of Structural Proteins during the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, 227(5259), 680-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/227680a0</u>
- Laganá, G., Barreca, D., Calderaro, A., & Bellocco, E. (2019). Lactate Dehydrogenase Inhibition: Biochemical Relevance and Therapeutical Potential. *Curr Med Chem*, 26(18), 3242-3252. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867324666170209103444</u>
- Le, A., Cooper, C. R., Gouw, A. M., Dinavahi, R., Maitra, A., Deck, L. M., Royer, R. E., Vander Jagt, D. L., Semenza, G. L., & Dang, C. V. (2010). Inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase A induces oxidative stress and inhibits tumor progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(5), 2037-2042. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0914433107
- Lee, S. L., Dempsey-Hibbert, N. C., Vimalachandran, D., Wardle, T. D., Sutton, P., & Williams, J. H. (2015a). Targeting heat shock proteins in colorectal cancer. In *Heat Shock Protein-Based Therapies* (pp. 345-379). Springer.
- Lee, S. L., Dempsey-Hibbert, N. C., Vimalachandran, D., Wardle, T. D., Sutton, P., & Williams, J. H. H. (2015b). Targeting Heat Shock Proteins in Colorectal Cancer. In A. A. Asea, N. N. Almasoud, S. Krishnan, & P. Kaur (Eds.), *Heat Shock Protein-Based Therapies* (pp. 345-379). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17211-8\_17
- Lelj-Garolla, B., Kumano, M., Beraldi, E., Nappi, L., Rocchi, P., Ionescu, D. N., Fazli, L., Zoubeidi, A., & Gleave, M. E. (2015). Hsp27 inhibition with OGX-427 sensitizes non-small cell lung cancer cells to erlotinib and chemotherapy. *Molecular cancer therapeutics*, 14(5), 1107-1116.
- Letlinienprogramm Onkologie (Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, D. K., AWMF). (2019). S3leitlinie Kolorektales Karzinom, Langversion 2.1. Retrieved April 7, 2021 from http://www.leitlinienprogramm-onkologie.de/leitlinien/kolorektales-karzinom/
- Leufkens, A. M., van den Bosch, M. A. A. J., van Leeuwen, M. S., & Siersema, P. D. (2011). Diagnostic accuracy of computed tomography for colon cancer staging: A systematic review. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, *46*(7-8), 887-894. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00365521.2011.574732</u>
- Levin, B., Lieberman, D. A., McFarland, B., Smith, R. A., Brooks, D., Andrews, K. S., Dash, C., Giardiello, F. M., Glick, S., Levin, T. R., Pickhardt, P., Rex, D. K., Thorson, A., & Winawer, S. J. (2008). Screening and surveillance for the early detection of colorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: a joint guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 58(3), 130-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.3322/ca.2007.0018</u>
- Li, Y., Li, X., Kan, Q., Zhang, M., Li, X., Xu, R., Wang, J., Yu, D., Adam Goscinski, M., Wen, J.-G., Nesland, J. M., & Suo, Z. (2016). Mitochondrial pyruvate carrier function is negatively linked to Warburg phenotype in vitro and malignant features in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas. *Oncotarget*, 8(1). https://www.oncotarget.com/article/13717/text/
- Liberti, M. V., & Locasale, J. W. (2016). The Warburg Effect: How Does it Benefit Cancer Cells? *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 41(3), 211-218. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2015.12.001</u>
- Lindquist, S., & Craig, E. A. (1988). The heat-shock proteins. *Annual review of genetics*, 22(1), 631-677.
- Lopez-Camarillo, C., & Arechaga-Ocampo, E. (2015). HSP27 as a Therapeutic Target of Novel Inhibitors and Dietary Phytochemicals in Cancer. In (pp. 1-22). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17211-8

- Love, S., & King, R. J. (1994). A 27 kDa heat shock protein that has anomalous prognostic powers in early and advanced breast cancer. *Br J Cancer*, *69*(4), 743-748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.1994.140</u>
- Lütter, C. (2012). Strahlentherapie für MTRA/RT. Georg Thieme Verlag.
- Lynch, H. T., & De la Chapelle, A. (2003). Hereditary colorectal cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *348*(10), 919-932.
- Macario, A. J., & Conway de Macario, E. (2007). Molecular chaperones: multiple functions, pathologies, and potential applications. *Front Biosci*, *12*, 2588-2600. <u>https://doi.org/10.2741/2257</u>
- Manerba, M., Di Ianni, L., Govoni, M., Roberti, M., Recanatini, M., & Di Stefano, G. (2017). LDH inhibition impacts on heat shock response and induces senescence of hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Eur J Pharm Sci*, 105, 91-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2017.05.015</u>
- Manfredi, S., Lepage, C., Hatem, C., Coatmeur, O., Faivre, J., & Bouvier, A. M. (2006). Epidemiology and management of liver metastases from colorectal cancer. *Ann Surg*, 244(2), 254-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.0000217629.94941.cf</u>
- Markert, C. L., & Møller, F. (1959). MULTIPLE FORMS OF ENZYMES: TISSUE, ONTOGENETIC, AND SPECIES SPECIFIC PATTERNS. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 45(5), 753-763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.45.5.753</u>
- Matoba, S., Kang, J. G., Patino, W. D., Wragg, A., Boehm, M., Gavrilova, O., Hurley, P. J., Bunz, F., & Hwang, P. M. (2006). p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. *Science*, 312(5780), 1650-1653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1126863</u>
- Mazzio, E., Mack, N., Badisa, R. B., & Soliman, K. F. A. (2021). Triple Isozyme Lactic Acid Dehydrogenase Inhibition in Fully Viable MDA-MB-231 Cells Induces Cytostatic Effects That Are Not Reversed by Exogenous Lactic Acid. *Biomolecules*, *11*(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11121751</u>
- McCleland, M. L., Adler, A. S., Deming, L., Cosino, E., Lee, L., Blackwood, E. M., Solon, M., Tao, J., Li, L., Shames, D., Jackson, E., Forrest, W. F., & Firestein, R. (2013). Lactate dehydrogenase B is required for the growth of KRASdependent lung adenocarcinomas. *Clin Cancer Res*, 19(4), 773-784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-12-2638</u>
- McCleland, M. L., Adler, A. S., Shang, Y., Hunsaker, T., Truong, T., Peterson, D., Torres, E., Li, L., Haley, B., Stephan, J. P., Belvin, M., Hatzivassiliou, G., Blackwood, E. M., Corson, L., Evangelista, M., Zha, J., & Firestein, R. (2012). An integrated genomic screen identifies LDHB as an essential gene for triplenegative breast cancer. *Cancer Res*, 72(22), 5812-5823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-12-1098</u>
- Mearow, K. M., Dodge, M. E., Rahimtula, M., & Yegappan, C. (2002). Stress-mediated signaling in PC12 cells - the role of the small heat shock protein, Hsp27, and Akt in protecting cells from heat stress and nerve growth factor withdrawal. J Neurochem, 83(2), 452-462. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.01151.x
- Mendillo, M. L., Santagata, S., Koeva, M., Bell, G. W., Hu, R., Tamimi, R. M., Fraenkel, E., Ince, T. A., Whitesell, L., & Lindquist, S. (2012). HSF1 drives a transcriptional program distinct from heat shock to support highly malignant human cancers. *Cell*, 150(3), 549-562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.031</u>
- Milicevic, Z., Bogojevic, D., Mihailovic, M., Petrovic, M., & Krivokapic, Z. (2008). Molecular characterization of hsp90 isoforms in colorectal cancer cells and its association with tumour progression. *Int J Oncol*, *32*(6), 1169-1178.
- Miller, K. D., Nogueira, L., Mariotto, A. B., Rowland, J. H., Yabroff, K. R., Alfano, C. M., Jemal, A., Kramer, J. L., & Siegel, R. L. (2019). Cancer treatment and

survivorship statistics, 2019. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 69(5), 363-385. <u>https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21565</u>

- Moradi-Marjaneh, R., Paseban, M., & Moradi Marjaneh, M. (2019). Hsp70 inhibitors: Implications for the treatment of colorectal cancer. *IUBMB Life*, *71*(12), 1834-1845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.2157</u>
- Müller, M. F., Ibrahim, A. E., & Arends, M. J. (2016). Molecular pathological classification of colorectal cancer. *Virchows Arch*, *469*(2), 125-134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-016-1956-3
- Multhoff, G. (2007). Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70): membrane location, export and immunological relevance. *Methods*, 43(3), 229-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2007.06.006</u>
- Multhoff, G., Botzler, C., Wiesnet, M., Müller, E., Meier, T., Wilmanns, W., & Issels, R. D. (1995). A stress-inducible 72-kDa heat-shock protein (HSP72) is expressed on the surface of human tumor cells, but not on normal cells. *Int J Cancer*, 61(2), 272-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910610222</u>
- Multhoff, G., Pfister, K., Gehrmann, M., Hantschel, M., Gross, C., Hafner, M., & Hiddemann, W. (2001). A 14-mer Hsp70 peptide stimulates natural killer (NK) cell activity. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, 6(4), 337-344. https://doi.org/10.1379/1466-1268(2001)006<0337:Amhpsn>2.0.Co;2
- Multhoff, G., Pockley, A. G., Schmid, T. E., & Schilling, D. (2015). The role of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in radiation-induced immunomodulation. *Cancer Lett*, 368(2), 179-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2015.02.013</u>
- Murakami, N., Kühnel, A., Schmid, T. E., Ilicic, K., Stangl, S., Braun, I. S., Gehrmann, M., Molls, M., Itami, J., & Multhoff, G. (2015). Role of membrane Hsp70 in radiation sensitivity of tumor cells. *Radiat Oncol*, 10, 149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13014-015-0461-1</u>
- Nadal-Bufi, F., Mason, J. M., Chan, L. Y., Craik, D. J., Kaas, Q., & Troeira Henriques, S. (2021). Designed β-Hairpins Inhibit LDH5 Oligomerization and Enzymatic Activity. J Med Chem, 64(7), 3767-3779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01898</u>
- Nadin, S. B., Vargas-Roig, L. M., Drago, G., Ibarra, J., & Ciocca, D. R. (2007). Hsp27, Hsp70 and mismatch repair proteins hMLH1 and hMSH2 expression in peripheral blood lymphocytes from healthy subjects and cancer patients. *Cancer Lett*, 252(1), 131-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2006.12.028</u>
- Nagaraju, G. P., Alese, O. B., Landry, J., Diaz, R., & El-Rayes, B. F. (2014). HSP90 inhibition downregulates thymidylate synthase and sensitizes colorectal cancer cell lines to the effect of 5FU-based chemotherapy. *Oncotarget*, *5*(20), 9980-9991. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2484</u>
- Nanbu, K., Konishi, I., Mandai, M., Kuroda, H., Hamid, A. A., Komatsu, T., & Mori, T. (1998). Prognostic significance of heat shock proteins HSP70 and HSP90 in endometrial carcinomas. *Cancer Detect Prev*, 22(6), 549-555. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1500.1998.00069.x
- Negrini, S., Gorgoulis, V. G., & Halazonetis, T. D. (2010). Genomic instability--an evolving hallmark of cancer. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, *11*(3), 220-228. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2858
- Nguyen, L. H., Goel, A., & Chung, D. C. (2020). Pathways of Colorectal Carcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, 158(2), 291-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.08.059</u>
- Novoa, W. B., Winer, A. D., Glaid, A. J., & Schwert, G. W. (1959). Lactic dehydrogenase. V. Inhibition by oxamate and by oxalate. *J Biol Chem*, 234(5), 1143-1148.

- Nylandsted, J., Gyrd-Hansen, M., Danielewicz, A., Fehrenbacher, N., Lademann, U., Høyer-Hansen, M., Weber, E., Multhoff, G., Rohde, M., & Jäättelä, M. (2004). Heat shock protein 70 promotes cell survival by inhibiting lysosomal membrane permeabilization. *J Exp Med*, 200(4), 425-435. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20040531
- Oya-Ito, T., Naito, Y., Takagi, T., Handa, O., Matsui, H., Yamada, M., Shima, K., & Yoshikawa, T. (2011). Heat-shock protein 27 (Hsp27) as a target of methylglyoxal in gastrointestinal cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1812*(7), 769-781. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.03.017</u>
- Pacey, S., Gore, M., Chao, D., Banerji, U., Larkin, J., Sarker, S., Owen, K., Asad, Y., Raynaud, F., Walton, M., Judson, I., Workman, P., & Eisen, T. (2012). A Phase II trial of 17-allylamino, 17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG, tanespimycin) in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Invest New Drugs*, 30(1), 341-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-010-9493-4</u>
- Pandey, P., Saleh, A., Nakazawa, A., Kumar, S., Srinivasula, S. M., Kumar, V., Weichselbaum, R., Nalin, C., Alnemri, E. S., Kufe, D., & Kharbanda, S. (2000).
   Negative regulation of cytochrome c-mediated oligomerization of Apaf-1 and activation of procaspase-9 by heat shock protein 90. *Embo j*, *19*(16), 4310-4322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.16.4310</u>
- Parcellier, A., Brunet, M., Schmitt, E., Col, E., Didelot, C., Hammann, A., Nakayama, K., Nakayama, K. I., Khochbin, S., Solary, E., & Garrido, C. (2006). HSP27 favors ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of p27Kip1 and helps S-phase re-entry in stressed cells. *Faseb j*, 20(8), 1179-1181. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.05-4184fje
- Park, H. S., Cho, S. G., Kim, C. K., Hwang, H. S., Noh, K. T., Kim, M. S., Huh, S. H., Kim, M. J., Ryoo, K., Kim, E. K., Kang, W. J., Lee, J. S., Seo, J. S., Ko, Y. G., Kim, S., & Choi, E. J. (2002). Heat shock protein hsp72 is a negative regulator of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22(22), 7721-7730. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.22.22.7721-7730.2002
- Paul, C., Simon, S., Gibert, B., Virot, S., Manero, F., & Arrigo, A. P. (2010). Dynamic processes that reflect anti-apoptotic strategies set up by HspB1 (Hsp27). *Exp Cell Res*, 316(9), 1535-1552. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.03.006</u>
- Pedersen, K. S., Kim, G. P., Foster, N. R., Wang-Gillam, A., Erlichman, C., & McWilliams, R. R. (2015). Phase II trial of gemcitabine and tanespimycin (17AAG) in metastatic pancreatic cancer: a Mayo Clinic Phase II Consortium study. *Invest New Drugs*, 33(4), 963-968. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-015-0246-2</u>
- Pescador, N., Villar, D., Cifuentes, D., Garcia-Rocha, M., Ortiz-Barahona, A., Vazquez, S., Ordoñez, A., Cuevas, Y., Saez-Morales, D., & Garcia-Bermejo, M. L. (2010).
   Hypoxia promotes glycogen accumulation through hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-mediated induction of glycogen synthase 1. *PLoS One*, *5*(3), e9644.
- Prince, T., Ackerman, A., Cavanaugh, A., Schreiter, B., Juengst, B., Andolino, C., Danella, J., Chernin, M., & Williams, H. (2018). Dual targeting of HSP70 does not induce the heat shock response and synergistically reduces cell viability in muscle invasive bladder cancer. *Oncotarget*, 9(66), 32702-32717. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.26021</u>
- Proia, D. A., & Kaufmann, G. F. (2015). Targeting Heat-Shock Protein 90 (HSP90) as a Complementary Strategy to Immune Checkpoint Blockade for Cancer Therapy. *Cancer Immunol Res*, 3(6), 583-589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-15-0057</u>

- Radiation Oncology Physics. (2005). INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY. https://www.iaea.org/publications/7086/radiation-oncology-physics
- Rai, G., Brimacombe, K. R., Mott, B. T., Urban, D. J., Hu, X., Yang, S.-M., Lee, T. D., Cheff, D. M., Kouznetsova, J., Benavides, G. A., Pohida, K., Kuenstner, E. J., Luci, D. K., Lukacs, C. M., Davies, D. R., Dranow, D. M., Zhu, H., Sulikowski, G., Moore, W. J., Stott, G. M., Flint, A. J., Hall, M. D., Darley-Usmar, V. M., Neckers, L. M., Dang, C. V., Waterson, A. G., Simeonov, A., Jadhav, A., & Maloney, D. J. (2017). Discovery and Optimization of Potent, Cell-Active Pyrazole-Based Inhibitors of Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH). *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 60(22), 9184-9204. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00941
- Ran, R., Lu, A., Zhang, L., Tang, Y., Zhu, H., Xu, H., Feng, Y., Han, C., Zhou, G., Rigby, A. C., & Sharp, F. R. (2004). Hsp70 promotes TNF-mediated apoptosis by binding IKK gamma and impairing NF-kappa B survival signaling. *Genes Dev*, *18*(12), 1466-1481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1188204</u>
- Ravagnan, L., Gurbuxani, S., Susin, S. A., Maisse, C., Daugas, E., Zamzami, N., Mak, T., Jäättelä, M., Penninger, J. M., Garrido, C., & Kroemer, G. (2001). Heat-shock protein 70 antagonizes apoptosis-inducing factor. *Nat Cell Biol*, *3*(9), 839-843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb0901-839</u>
- Read, J. A., Winter, V. J., Eszes, C. M., Sessions, R. B., & Brady, R. L. (2001). Structural basis for altered activity of M- and H-isozyme forms of human lactate dehydrogenase. *Proteins*, 43(2), 175-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0134(20010501)43:2</u><175::aid-prot1029>3.0.co;2-#
- Ren, B., Luo, S., Xu, F., Zou, G., Xu, G., He, J., Huang, Y., Zhu, H., & Li, Y. (2017). The expression of DAMP proteins HSP70 and cancer-testis antigen SPAG9 in peripheral blood of patients with HCC and lung cancer. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, 22(2), 237-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-016-0758-5</u>
- Richard, J. P. (1993). Mechanism for the formation of methylglyoxal from triosephosphates. *Biochem Soc Trans*, *21*(2), 549-553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1042/bst0210549</u>
- Rohde, M., Daugaard, M., Jensen, M. H., Helin, K., Nylandsted, J., & Jäättelä, M. (2005). Members of the heat-shock protein 70 family promote cancer cell growth by distinct mechanisms. *Genes Dev*, 19(5), 570-582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.305405</u>
- Rosenzweig, R., Nillegoda, N. B., Mayer, M. P., & Bukau, B. (2019). The Hsp70 chaperone network. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 20(11), 665-680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0133-3</u>
- Saini, J., & Sharma, P. K. (2018). Clinical, Prognostic and Therapeutic Significance of Heat Shock Proteins in Cancer. *Curr Drug Targets*, *19*(13), 1478-1490. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389450118666170823121248
- Sakamoto, H., Mashima, T., Yamamoto, K., & Tsuruo, T. (2002). Modulation of heatshock protein 27 (Hsp27) anti-apoptotic activity by methylglyoxal modification. *J Biol Chem*, 277(48), 45770-45775. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M207485200</u>
- Sanchez, J., Carter, T. R., Cohen, M. S., & Blagg, B. S. J. (2020). Old and New Approaches to Target the Hsp90 Chaperone. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*, *20*(4), 253-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1568009619666191202101330</u>
- Santagata, S., Hu, R., Lin, N. U., Mendillo, M. L., Collins, L. C., Hankinson, S. E., Schnitt, S. J., Whitesell, L., Tamimi, R. M., Lindquist, S., & Ince, T. A. (2011). High levels of nuclear heat-shock factor 1 (HSF1) are associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *108*(45), 18378-18383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115031108</u>

- Saraswathy, S., Crawford, F. W., Lamborn, K. R., Pirzkall, A., Chang, S., Cha, S., & Nelson, S. J. (2009). Evaluation of MR markers that predict survival in patients with newly diagnosed GBM prior to adjuvant therapy. *J Neurooncol*, 91(1), 69-81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-008-9685-3
- Sattler, U. G., Hirschhaeuser, F., & Mueller-Klieser, W. F. (2010). Manipulation of glycolysis in malignant tumors: fantasy or therapy? *Curr Med Chem*, *17*(2), 96-108. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/092986710790112657</u>
- Sattler, U. G., Meyer, S. S., Quennet, V., Hoerner, C., Knoerzer, H., Fabian, C., Yaromina, A., Zips, D., Walenta, S., Baumann, M., & Mueller-Klieser, W. (2010). Glycolytic metabolism and tumour response to fractionated irradiation. *Radiother Oncol*, 94(1), 102-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2009.11.007</u>
- Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 671-675. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2089
- Schwab, M., Thunborg, K., Azimzadeh, O., von Toerne, C., Werner, C., Shevtsov, M., Di Genio, T., Zdralevic, M., Pouyssegur, J., Renner, K., Kreutz, M., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Targeting Cancer Metabolism Breaks Radioresistance by Impairing the Stress Response. *Cancers (Basel)*, *13*(15). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13153762
- Scudellari, M. (2015). Drug development: Mix and match. *Nature*, *521*(7551), S12-S14. https://doi.org/10.1038/521S12a
- Secretan, B., Straif, K., Baan, R., Grosse, Y., El Ghissassi, F., Bouvard, V., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., Guha, N., Freeman, C., Galichet, L., & Cogliano, V. (2009). A review of human carcinogens--Part E: tobacco, areca nut, alcohol, coal smoke, and salted fish. *Lancet Oncol*, *10*(11), 1033-1034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(09)70326-2</u>
- Shay, J. W., & Wright, W. E. (2000). Hayflick, his limit, and cellular ageing. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 1(1), 72-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35036093</u>
- Shen, Z., Yin, L., Zhou, H., Ji, X., Jiang, C., Zhu, X., & He, X. (2021). Combined inhibition of AURKA and HSF1 suppresses proliferation and promotes apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma by activating endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Cell Oncol (Dordr)*, 44(5), 1035-1049. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13402-021-00617-w</u>
- Sheng, S. L., Liu, J. J., Dai, Y. H., Sun, X. G., Xiong, X. P., & Huang, G. (2012). Knockdown of lactate dehydrogenase A suppresses tumor growth and metastasis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Febs j*, 279(20), 3898-3910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08748.x</u>
- Sherman, M. Y., Meng, L., Stampfer, M., Gabai, V. L., & Yaglom, J. A. (2011). Oncogenes induce senescence with incomplete growth arrest and suppress the DNA damage response in immortalized cells. *Aging Cell*, *10*(6), 949-961. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00736.x</u>
- Shevtsov, M., Multhoff, G., Mikhaylova, E., Shibata, A., Guzhova, I., & Margulis, B. (2019). Combination of Anti-Cancer Drugs with Molecular Chaperone Inhibitors. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20(21). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20215284</u>
- Shim, H., Dolde, C., Lewis, B. C., Wu, C. S., Dang, G., Jungmann, R. A., Dalla-Favera, R., & Dang, C. V. (1997). c-Myc transactivation of LDH-A: implications for tumor metabolism and growth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94(13), 6658-6663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.13.6658</u>
- Sobin, L. H., Gospodarowicz, M. K., & Wittekind, C. (2011). *TNM classification of malignant tumours*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Soo, E. T., Yip, G. W., Lwin, Z. M., Kumar, S. D., & Bay, B. H. (2008). Heat shock proteins as novel therapeutic targets in cancer. *In Vivo*, *22*(3), 311-315.

- Sottile, M. L., & Nadin, S. B. (2018). Heat shock proteins and DNA repair mechanisms: an updated overview. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, *23*(3), 303-315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-017-0843-4</u>
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal* for *Clinicians*, *n/a*(n/a). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660
- Swietach, P., Vaughan-Jones, R. D., & Harris, A. L. (2007). Regulation of tumor pH and the role of carbonic anhydrase 9. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, *26*(2), 299-310.
- Tadros, M., & Anderson, J. C. (2013). Serrated polyps: clinical implications and future directions. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep*, 15(9), 342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11894-013-0342-4</u>
- Taipale, M., Jarosz, D. F., & Lindquist, S. (2010). HSP90 at the hub of protein homeostasis: emerging mechanistic insights. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 11(7), 515-528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2918</u>
- Tang, D., Khaleque, M. A., Jones, E. L., Theriault, J. R., Li, C., Wong, W. H., Stevenson, M. A., & Calderwood, S. K. (2005). Expression of heat shock proteins and heat shock protein messenger ribonucleic acid in human prostate carcinoma in vitro and in tumors in vivo. *Cell stress & chaperones*, 10(1), 46.
- Tanke, H. J., & van der Keur, M. (1993). Selection of defined cell types by flowcytometric cell sorting. *Trends in Biotechnology*, *11*(2), 55-62. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-7799(93)90123-Q
- Tchénio, T., Havard, M., Martinez, L. A., & Dautry, F. (2006). Heat shock-independent induction of multidrug resistance by heat shock factor 1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 26(2), 580-591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.26.2.580-591.2006</u>
- Teimourian, S., Jalal, R., Sohrabpour, M., & Goliaei, B. (2006). Down-regulation of Hsp27 radiosensitizes human prostate cancer cells. *International Journal of Urology*, 13(9), 1221-1225. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-2042.2006.01483.x</u>
- Thanikachalam, K., & Khan, G. (2019). Colorectal Cancer and Nutrition. *Nutrients*, *11*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010164</u>
- Thanner, F., Sütterlin, M. W., Kapp, M., Rieger, L., Kristen, P., Dietl, J., Gassel, A. M.,
  & Müller, T. (2003). Heat-shock protein 70 as a prognostic marker in nodenegative breast cancer. *Anticancer Res*, 23(2a), 1057-1062.
- Thermo Fisher Scientific. *Pierce*<sup>™</sup> *BCA Protein Assay Kit*. Retrieved October 6, 2022 from <u>https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/de/en/23225</u>
- Thomas, X., Campos, L., Mounier, C., Cornillon, J., Flandrin, P., Le, Q. H., Piselli, S., & Guyotat, D. (2005). Expression of heat-shock proteins is associated with major adverse prognostic factors in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leuk Res*, 29(9), 1049-1058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2005.02.010</u>
- Trepel, J., Mollapour, M., Giaccone, G., & Neckers, L. (2010). Targeting the dynamic HSP90 complex in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *10*(8), 537-549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2887</u>
- Tweedle, E. M., Khattak, I., Ang, C. W., Nedjadi, T., Jenkins, R., Park, B. K., Kalirai, H., Dodson, A., Azadeh, B., Terlizzo, M., Grabsch, H., Mueller, W., Myint, S., Clark, P., Wong, H., Greenhalf, W., Neoptolemos, J. P., Rooney, P. S., & Costello, E. (2010). Low molecular weight heat shock protein HSP27 is a prognostic indicator in rectal cancer but not colon cancer. *Gut*, *59*(11), 1501-1510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2009.196626</u>

- Vaishampayan, U. N., Burger, A. M., Sausville, E. A., Heilbrun, L. K., Li, J., Horiba, M. N., Egorin, M. J., Ivy, P., Pacey, S., & Lorusso, P. M. (2010). Safety, efficacy, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of the combination of sorafenib and tanespimycin. *Clin Cancer Res*, 16(14), 3795-3804. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-10-0503
- Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L. C., & Thompson, C. B. (2009). Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science*, 324(5930), 1029-1033. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1160809</u>
- Vaupel, P., & Multhoff, G. (2020). Revisiting the Warburg effect: historical dogma versus current understanding. *J Physiol*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jp278810</u>
- Vaupel, P., Schmidberger, H., & Mayer, A. (2019). The Warburg effect: essential part of metabolic reprogramming and central contributor to cancer progression. *Int J Radiat Biol*, 95(7), 912-919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09553002.2019.1589653</u>
- Vogel, J. D., Eskicioglu, C., Weiser, M. R., Feingold, D. L., & Steele, S. R. (2017). The American Society of Colon and Rectal Surgeons Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Colon Cancer. *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum*, 60(10), 999-1017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/dcr.00000000000926</u>
- Walenta, S., & Mueller-Klieser, W. F. (2004). Lactate: mirror and motor of tumor malignancy. Seminars in Radiation Oncology, 14(3), 267-274. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semradonc.2004.04.004</u>
- Walenta, S., Wetterling, M., Lehrke, M., Schwickert, G., Sundfør, K., Rofstad, E. K., & Mueller-Klieser, W. (2000). High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. *Cancer Res*, 60(4), 916-921.
- Wang, L., Schumann, U., Liu, Y., Prokopchuk, O., & Steinacker, J. M. (2012). Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) inhibits oxidative phosphorylation and compensates ATP balance through enhanced glycolytic activity. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, *113*(11), 1669-1676. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00658.2012
- Warburg, O. (1925). The metabolism of carcinoma cells. *The Journal of Cancer Research*, 9(1), 148-163.
- Warburg, O. (1956). On the origin of cancer cells. *Science*, *123*(3191), 309-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.123.3191.309</u>
- Warburg, O., Wind, F., & Negelein, E. (1927). THE METABOLISM OF TUMORS IN THE BODY. *J Gen Physiol*, 8(6), 519-530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.8.6.519</u>
- Wawrzynow, B., Zylicz, A., & Zylicz, M. (2018). Chaperoning the guardian of the genome. The two-faced role of molecular chaperones in p53 tumor suppressor action. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer*, 1869(2), 161-174. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2017.12.004</u>
- Whitesell, L., Mimnaugh, E. G., De Costa, B., Myers, C. E., & Neckers, L. M. (1994). Inhibition of heat shock protein HSP90-pp60v-src heteroprotein complex formation by benzoquinone ansamycins: essential role for stress proteins in oncogenic transformation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91(18), 8324-8328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.18.8324</u>
- Wieman, H. L., Wofford, J. A., & Rathmell, J. C. (2007). Cytokine stimulation promotes glucose uptake via phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/Akt regulation of Glut1 activity and trafficking. *Mol Biol Cell*, 18(4), 1437-1446. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e06-07-0593</u>
- Xie, H., Hanai, J.-i., Ren, J.-G., Kats, L., Burgess, K., Bhargava, P., Signoretti, S., Billiard, J., Duffy, Kevin J., Grant, A., Wang, X., Lorkiewicz, Pawel K., Schatzman, S., Bousamra, M., Lane, Andrew N., Higashi, Richard M., Fan, Teresa W. M., Pandolfi, Pier P., Sukhatme, Vikas P., & Seth, P. (2014).

Targeting Lactate Dehydrogenase-A Inhibits Tumorigenesis and TumorProgression in Mouse Models of Lung Cancer and Impacts Tumor-InitiatingCells.CellMetabolism,19(5),https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2014.03.003

- Yang, L., Pang, Y., & Moses, H. L. (2010). TGF-beta and immune cells: an important regulatory axis in the tumor microenvironment and progression. *Trends Immunol*, 31(6), 220-227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2010.04.002</u>
- Yao, Y., Wang, H., & Li, B. (2014). LDH5 overexpression is associated with poor survival in patients with solid tumors: a meta-analysis. *Tumor Biology*, 35(7), 6973-6981. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-014-1903-3</u>
- Yu, Z., Zhi, J., Peng, X., Zhong, X., & Xu, A. (2010). Clinical significance of HSP27 expression in colorectal cancer. *Mol Med Rep*, *3*(6), 953-958. <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2010.372</u>
- Yun, C. W., Kim, H. J., Lim, J. H., & Lee, S. H. (2019). Heat Shock Proteins: Agents of Cancer Development and Therapeutic Targets in Anti-Cancer Therapy. *Cells*, 9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9010060</u>
- Zdralevic, M., Brand, A., Di Ianni, L., Dettmer, K., Reinders, J., Singer, K., Peter, K., Schnell, A., Bruss, C., Decking, S. M., Koehl, G., Felipe-Abrio, B., Durivault, J., Bayer, P., Evangelista, M., O'Brien, T., Oefner, P. J., Renner, K., Pouyssegur, J., & Kreutz, M. (2018). Double genetic disruption of lactate dehydrogenases A and B is required to ablate the "Warburg effect" restricting tumor growth to oxidative metabolism. *J Biol Chem*, 293(41), 15947-15961. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.004180
- Zhao, Y. H., Zhou, M., Liu, H., Ding, Y., Khong, H. T., Yu, D., Fodstad, O., & Tan, M. (2009). Upregulation of lactate dehydrogenase A by ErbB2 through heat shock factor 1 promotes breast cancer cell glycolysis and growth. *Oncogene*, 28(42), 3689-3701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2009.229</u>
- Zhou, X., Xing, X., Zhang, S., Liu, L., Wang, C., Li, L., Ji, Q., & Liu, H. (2016). Glucoseregulated protein 78 contributes to the proliferation and tumorigenesis of human colorectal carcinoma via AKT and ERK pathways. *Oncol Rep*, 36(5), 2723-2730. <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2016.5097</u>
- Zou, J., Guo, Y., Guettouche, T., Smith, D. F., & Voellmy, R. (1998). Repression of heat shock transcription factor HSF1 activation by HSP90 (HSP90 complex) that forms a stress-sensitive complex with HSF1. *Cell*, 94(4), 471-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81588-3</u>
- Zuehlke, A. D., Beebe, K., Neckers, L., & Prince, T. (2015). Regulation and function of the human HSP90AA1 gene. *Gene*, 570(1), 8-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2015.06.018</u>